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Highlights  

 

 
THE CORPORATION’S FUTURE  
 
Twenty-five years after its creation, the Old Port 
of Montréal Corporation continues to carry out the 
mandate granted to it by the federal government, 
namely to develop, and promote the development 
of, the Old Port of Montréal’s territory, and to 
administer, manage and maintain Crown 
property. 
 
The Corporation thus ensures an important 
federal presence in downtown Montréal and plays 
a key role in revitalizing the city’s waterfront 
sector. Important players in the city consider the 
Old Port to be a driving force in Montréal’s 
economic development and a major attraction in 
the city’s cultural offerings and tourist services.   
 
Since major development work was completed in 
1992, the Old Port has become one of the most 
popular sites in Montréal, with more than five 
million visitors annually. This remarkable 
popularity does have an impact on the equipment 
and facilities at this heritage site, which already 
has to deal with the problem of aging 
infrastructures. The Corporation must continue its 
mission and ensure the long-term protection of its 
facilities to allow for clear development strategies, 
investments and a stable framework for action.   
In this context, the Corporation continued in its 
efforts to obtain the sufficient and recurring 
funding that it requires for its operations as well 
as the related investments. It obtained a recurring 
annual core budget on April 1, 2007. This also 
includes the custody of assets which the 
Corporation is requesting, together with an 
appropriate budget to ensure their maintenance.  
Finally, the Corporation is still awaiting 
government approval and the necessary funding 
to implement its 2005-2015 Vision Development. 

This Vision, which was finalized last year, is a 
priority to ensure the future development of this 
heritage site.  
 
The Vision now also includes some of the 
development priorities of major Montréal players 
to strengthen the city’s economy and to make it 
more competitive. As a showcase for the federal 
presence, the Old Port must remain in step for 
development issues to continue to assert its 
leadership for cultural and tourist services.  
 

 
THE CORPORATION UNVEILS ITS 
BRANDS  
 
The re-definition of the Corporation’s brand 
image was completed in the last fiscal year. The 
new corporate images were unveiled at the 
beginning of the 2006-2007 fiscal year. They 
include a new logo for the Corporation as well as 
a distinct logo for the Quays of the Old Port. As 
the cornerstone of the corporate identity, the logo 
is a unique symbol for recognizing the 
Corporation and a tangible sign of a major shift in 
its objectives and ways of doing things.  
 
The launching of the new Quays of the Old Port 
brand confirms the Corporation’s desire to make 
the right choices according to its brand identity 
and its positioning as a Montréal recreational and 
tourist destination. The impacts of this new 
positioning are already apparent in the 
deployment of certain products and services, the 
selection of partners and sponsors and the 
development of marketing proposals.  Internal 
management practices should continue to be 
integrated and adapted in the coming years.    
 
 
A CRITICAL CONTEXT FOR THE 
CORPORATION  

Events Beyond the Corporation’s Control  

Several events in the general operating 
environment that were beyond the Corporation’s 
control had a major impact on its performance 
during the 2006-2007 fiscal year. 
 
There has been a marked decrease in the 
number of U.S. tourists to Canada in the last few 
years.  The strength of the Canadian dollar, 
higher gasoline prices and the uncertainty caused 
by terrorism, in particular, are some of the factors 
discouraging Americans from travelling outside 
their own country.  
 
The sharp rise in gasoline prices is not only felt in 
terms of the number of American and other 
tourists travelling to Montréal by car. Higher 
gasoline prices also affect the number of boaters, 
thereby creating an unfavourable context for 
activities at the Old Port’s Port d’escale and the 
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locks. This situation was also combined with a 
very hot, humid and rainy summer. Visitors tend 
not to come out and visit the Old Port on hot days 
since there is still little shade.  The weather 
continues to be an uncontrollable factor that 
influences summer and winter attendance 
numbers.  The rainy weather last December and 
the extreme cold in January are conditions that 
undermine the Old Port’s performance in terms of 
the number of visitors to the site.  
 

A Rather Grim Situation  

A feeling of gloom has set in following the failure 
of some large projects in Montréal that would 
have had major spin-offs for the city’s 
recreational tourism industry. The main project 
that fell through is the Peel Basin Entertainment 
Complex that was spearheaded by Loto-Québec 
in collaboration with the Cirque du Soleil. 
Progress is also slow for other projects, such as 
the redevelopment of the No. 5 grain elevator and 
the surrounding site, the development work 
expected to be carried out by the Société du 
Havre or projects to develop the city’s 
entertainment district.  Montréal would like to see 
strategic projects that contribute to the city’s 
economic renewal in addition to the renewal of its 
cultural and tourism offerings.  
 
The Old Port of Montréal Corporation continues 
to take part in efforts that should allow major 
projects to be carried out in Montréal’s 
harbourfront area. These projects would make a 
significant contribution to strengthening the 
sector’s role as a tourist area.  The Corporation 
has also continued to hold discussions with the 
partners concerned to ensure that both the Old 
Port and Old Montréal receive better public transit 
service and that a solution is found to resolve the 
chronic access and traffic problems in the area. 
The Montréal transit plan to be unveiled in May 
2007 should play a determining role for progress 
in this area.    
 
 
THE CORPORATION’S GENERAL 
PERFORMANCE  

Number of Visitors  

The Quays of the Old Port of Montréal are among  
the city’s most popular tourist attractions. Due to 
the efforts made to ensure that the Old Port offers 
an attractive array of products and services year 
round, the overall attendance numbers have 
been maintained. The 2006-2007 fiscal year 
ended with a total of 5,327,693 visitors to the site, 

down slightly by 4% compared to last year.  
Attendance during the summer decreased 9% 
while the number of visitors during the winter 
months continued to increase by 14%.  
 
Events beyond the Corporation’s control, such as 
the weather, have a major impact on attendance 
numbers. However, other factors come into play 
as well. In spite of its rich and diverse summer 
programming, the Quays of the Old Port held a 
limited number of major events during the 
summer season. International Flora Montréal 

2006 was the only summer event to attract more 
than 50,000 visitors. It attracted more than 
150,000 visitors the first time that it was held.    
 
Events held at the Quays during the winter 
months are increasing in popularity. Events such 
as the Feux sur glace TELUS, the Montreal High 

lights Festival and several other new activities are 
increasingly making the Quays a possible place 
for a winter outing for Montrealers and tourists 
alike. 
 
The Montréal Science Centre (MSC), which was 
severely affected by the boycott of cultural 
outings by Québec teachers last year, has seen 
its number of ticket sales increase by 33% and its 
total number of visitors increase by 24%.  
 
The attendance levels recorded this past year for 
both the Quays of the Old Port and the MSC 
have enabled the Corporation to achieve all of its 
targets in terms of revenues generated.  
 

Programming  

The programming offered at the Quays of the Old 
Port continues to grow and become more 
diverse. A total of 11 additional events were held 
this year, bringing the total to 54. These new 
events include International Flora Montréal 2006, 
the Environment Show, the International ExpoArt 

Festival and the Igloofest event held in the winter. 
A total of 496 days of activities were held at the 
Quays of the Old Port this year, an increase of 
23% compared to last year. Aside from events, 
the increase in the number of activities held at the 
site, in particular those initiated by concession 
holders, explains this significant growth.   
 
The Quays of the Old Port enjoy a high level of 
brand awareness (89%). Substantial gains have 
been made such that the Quays now rank as high 
as Mount Royal Park among centres for 
recreational tourism activities in the Greater 
Montréal Area. 
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Where the MSC is concerned, in addition to the 
permanent exhibitions held, namely Technocity 

and Eureka!, five exhibitions were held, including 
a new temporary exhibition called Ice Age 

Mammals. A total of 19 cultural activities were 
held, including three theme weeks targeting 
families and teenagers, such as Backstage 

Access, a very successful event held during the 
holiday season that taught young visitors how 
science and technology are used to create a 
stage production.  The Robofolies event was held 
for the sixth and last time during spring break 
week, drawing in 33% more visitors than in 2005-
2006. A total of 29 educational activities were 
held during the year, which is almost double the 
number of activities planned. Activities related to 
the temporary exhibition being held, new rallies 
and educational programs, as well as events 
relating to the LabUQAM, were added. 
 
The MSC team also worked hard to renew the 
centre’s permanent exhibitions to be inaugurated 
in the fall of 2007.  The focus was on finalizing 
the design and content for the new exhibitions.  In 
addition to these preparations, the arrival of the 
popular new Body Worlds 2 exhibition was 
planned on behalf of the Montréal Science Centre 
Foundation, which is presenting the exhibition. 
This unusual exhibition featuring human anatomy 
has already been presented in several large U.S. 
cities as well as in Japan and Europe. It is 
scheduled to open in May 2007 and should have 
a major impact in terms of the number of visitors 
to the MSC and the centre’s visibility. 
 

Effectiveness  

This year, the Corporation continued its efforts to 
improve its management tools and processes. 
One major project has been completed: the 
review of the total compensation policy for non-
unionized employees. The adjustments made 
have resulted in corrections to the compensation 
provided to close to 40% of non-unionized 
employees.  

 
The Corporation implemented a project and 
portfolio management structure this year, another 
major endeavour. This system, which is part of a 
multi-department logic, affects all corporate and 
capital projects to be carried out as part of a 
process ensuring that the various aspects, 
impacts and risks are taken into account. The 
document and archive management system, 
which will make it possible to retrieve and 
process information more efficiently, will ensure 
the effectiveness of this initiative.  
 
Providing better security for computer operations 
led IT management to work on putting in place a 
backup site to ensure better protection for 
computer data.  An overall security policy is being 
developed for the Corporation. Security 
considerations are being added to the business 
continuity plan developed by the Corporation to 
ensure that operations continue in the event of a 
disaster.  
 
Where labour relations are concerned, the 
Corporation has signed a new labour agreement 
with its unionized staff affiliated with the Public 
Service Alliance of Canada (local 10333) and 
with the projectionists union (IATSE). 
 
Finally, the Corporation’s two business units 
sought to meet client needs by implementing 
marketing plans that were developed and fine-
tuned based on studies carried out with clients, in 
particular longitudinal studies carried out with 
Quays and MSC customers over a 12-month 
period. Where improved efficiency is concerned, 
the new Quays of the Old Port unit has put in 
place programming plans resulting from major 
efforts to plan and provide guidelines for action 
regarding the main products offered, namely 
events, activities, restaurant services, boutiques 
and parking facilities.  
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Message From the Chairman of the Board  

 
As the Chairman of the new Board of Directors appointed on April 16, 2007, I would 
like to begin by thanking our outgoing directors, Ms.  Hélène Béïque, Ms. Phyllis 
Lambert and Messrs. Vincent Arciresi, Raymond Cyr, Pierre Michaud, Jocelyn 
Proteau, as well as my predecessor, Mr. Bernard Lamarre, who have done a 
remarkable job since 1994.  
 
Major projects for the city of Montréal were carried out under their guidance, in particular the inauguration of 
the Montréal Science Centre and the transformation of the site of the old refrigerated warehouse into 
housing. Similarly, the assessments carried out have made it possible to confirm the Corporation’s 
leadership role and to improve the action that it takes. The Corporation’s mandate review reaffirmed its 
relevance and the action taken following the recommendations from the three special examinations 
performed by the Office of the Auditor General of Canada has enabled the Corporation to improve its 
performance and achieve an unequalled level of results. Finally, it is important to mention the major planning 
efforts that resulted in the 2005-2015 Vision Development, a project of paramount importance for the 
Corporation’s future. 
 
As new directors, we are inheriting a corporation with clear development guidelines. In addition to its sound 
financial performance, the Old Port of Montréal Corporation has undertaken to continuously improve its 
management practices. The Corporation’s dynamic and driven team helps create a stimulating work climate, 
which undoubtedly was a factor in signing collective agreements and reviewing the Total Compensation 
Policy this year.  
 
Where the Corporation’s business units are concerned, it is good to see the planning work that has been 
done in terms of marketing strategies and we are proud of the new brands and related images that have 
been adopted. They will be a source of inspiration for us all.  
 
Many challenges lie ahead for the Corporation’s new directors, namely Hélène Desmarais, Patrick Kenniff, 
Tasha Kheiriddin, Claude Thibault and myself, mainly in terms of ensuring the Corporation’s continuous 
operation and development. 
 
I would like to thank the government of Canada for its support. Starting in 2007-2008, the Corporation will 
receive annual recurring core funding of $18.8 million over five years, in addition to $7 million annually over 
a five-year period for the conservation and maintenance of the real estate assets for which PWGSC is the 
custodian. In the wake of these recent decisions, we will seek to have the transfer of the custody of assets 
from PWGSC to the Corporation take effect in the coming year. We are pleased to have the federal 
government’s confidence in agreeing to the needs expressed by the Corporation so many times.  
 
The Board members and myself are committed to continue the work of our predecessors. Promoting the 
2005-2015 Vision Development and obtaining the related funding will remain a priority for us. Considering 
the work that has been done until now and with the support expressed by community leaders, we will do 
what is necessary in dealing with government authorities to defend the role and impact of the Old Port in 
developing Montréal’s historic district and the economic performance of Canada’s second large metropolis.  
 
In closing, I would like to thank the new directors for their commitment to the organization. On their behalf, I 
would like to thank the entire Old Port of Montréal team for its achievements in the past year, which herald a 
promising future for the Corporation and its partners.  
 
A great voyage lies ahead! 
 
The Chairman of the Board 

 
 
 

Bernard Roy, Q.C. 



7/65 

Message From the President and Chief Executive 

Officer  
 
Planning and change were central themes in 2006-2007. The implementation of the marketing 
plans for each of the Corporation’s business units and the creation of new corporate images for 
the Corporation and the Quays of the Old Port signalled the first major shift this year. These 
decisions confirm the Corporation’s desire and goal to improve the visitor’s experience and to 
maintain the Old Port of Montréal’s positioning as the foremost tourist attraction for recreational 
and cultural activities in Canada.  
 
The Quays of the Old Port team has already made changes with the opening of the new marina managed by 
the Montréal Yacht Club and the holding of International Flora Montréal, the first event to celebrate art, 
architecture and landscape design. I would also like to point out the team’s exceptional work in developing 
winter offerings. In the past three years, winter has taken its rightful place at the Old Port of Montréal, where 
visitors can now enjoy a rich variety of extraordinary, bold and invigorating activities. 
 
The Montréal Science Centre beat all attendance records this year with amazing and intelligent 
programming at the IMAX®TELUS Theatre. During the busy holiday period, Backstage Access gave visitors 
a glimpse into how science and technology are used in putting on a stage production. The MSC’s new 
permanent exhibitions to be unveiled in the fall were also finalized this year, and the Centre’s personnel 
planned for the arrival of the international Body Worlds 2 exhibition in May.  
 
The Corporation also planned certain projects in connection with the implementation of the Vision 
Development adopted in 2005. Work to carry out these projects will begin with the support of and 
contributions by our various partners as soon as the necessary approvals are obtained and the funds are 
available.  
 
I am particularly proud of our managers’ participation in implementing the project and portfolio management 
structure, a major endeavour this year. The Corporation is therefore now assured of strict expenditure 
management, better quality results and the timely completion of work, which is indicative of good 
performance. With the new document management system, this constitutes a major change in our way of 
doing things that is essential for achieving our Vision for the future.  
 
I would also like to take this opportunity to thank corporate services for their role in implementing better 
conditions and customized tools that are keys to our success. The Finance and Administration team 
completed the implementation of a Web-based transaction function for the ticketing system, another project 
carried out to optimize and secure the Corporation’s technological environment. The Site Management team 
consolidated the Old Port of Montréal Security Policy, submitted its program for environmental management 
standards and procedures and provided training to managers, in addition to being in charge of the 
construction and development work necessary for our successful operation. The Human Resources 
Management team had some impressive achievements this year, which included reviewing the Total 
Compensation Policy which was applied to non-unionized employees this year and signing collective 
agreements that will ensure industrial peace for the next few years.  
 
I would also like to mention the arrival in November 2006 of Richard Tardif, our new Vice-president, Finance 
and Administration, who has replaced Gilles Turgeon, who left us in June 2006, after devoting three years to 
the consolidation and development of this department.  
 
Finally, the Old Port of Montréal is celebrating its 25th anniversary in 2006-2007. We are filled with quiet joy 
and are proud to be part of an organization that is making a difference in the tourism and cultural landscape 
of our city and our country.  We have taken it upon ourselves to put together a collection of pictures and 
memories highlighting the best moments in the Corporation’s evolution that will be launched soon. I invite 
you to come and join us in celebrating the quiet strength of our history. 
 
The best is yet to come. 
 
President and Chief Executive Officer,  

 

 
Claude Benoit, C. M 
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The Corporation  

 

 
MANDATE 
 
The Old Port of Montréal Corporation Inc. (the 
Corporation) was created by the government of 
Canada with the mandate of developing, and 
promoting the development of, the Old Port of 
Montréal’s territory, and of administering and 
managing Crown property. 
 
The territory of the Old Port of Montréal, which 
represents an area of 47.3 hectares, is 2.7 km long 
and lies along the St. Lawrence River, bordering on 

Old Montréal. It has been recognized historically in 
two ways: the Eastern and Central sectors and part 

of the Western Sector were recognized in the historic 

Old Montréal burrough in 1997 and the Western 
Sector has been a part of the Lachine Canal National 
Historic Site since 1996.  

The Old Port is near Pointe-à-Callière, where the 
city of Montréal was founded, and Saint-Laurent 
Street, for which the section between the Old Port 

and Jean-Talon Street is classified as an historic 
district by the Historic Sites and Monuments Board 
of Canada. 

 
 
GOVERNING STATUTES  
 
The Corporation is a business corporation 
incorporated on November 26, 1981 under the 

Canada Business Corporations Act. It is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Canada Lands Company 
Limited (CLC), a Crown corporation registered 

under Part I of Schedule III of the Financial 

Administration Act. In accordance with Order in 
Council P. C. 1987-86, the Corporation is subject to 

certain provisions of the Financial Administration 

Act as if it were a parent Crown corporation, listed 
in Part 1 of Schedule III. The Corporation reports to 

Parliament on its operations through the honourable 
Lawrence Cannon, Minister of  Transport, 
Infrastructure and Communities.  

 

At present, the Corporation fulfills its mandate in 
the name of, and on behalf of, the Minister of 

Public Works and Government Services Canada 

(PWGSC), who holds title to the federal assets and 

has responsibility for their maintenance and 
conservation for the benefit of the Crown. 
 
 
MISSION 
 
The Corporation’s mission is to manage, develop, 
and hold activities on an urban recreational, tourist, 
and cultural site and a centre for entertainment and 
discovery. 
 
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES  

The site of the Old Port of 
Montréal is an exceptional 

location for walking, 
entertainment, discovery, 

learning and relaxation. 

The Corporation offers a 
wide array of services and 
reaches a vast clientele composed of children and 

adults, Montrealers and Canadian and foreign 
tourists alike.   

Promoting the Development of the Old Port of 

Montréal’s Territory  

In accordance with its mandate, the Corporation must 

put in place the basic infrastructures, equipment and 

services to: 
 
• Satisfy the public’s interest;  

• Contribute to the sector’s commercial 
development;  

• Invest in the refitting or construction of certain 

buildings.  
Project cost assessments and feasibility analyses, 

calls for tenders, the conclusion of public works, 

service and supply contracts, the planning and 
performance of work, as well as transactions with 
purchasers or concession holders are some of the 

services provided by the Corporation within this 
framework.  
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Administering, Managing and Maintaining 
Property 

The Corporation is responsible for ensuring the 
adequate maintenance of the Quays, as well as the 
related land, buildings, equipment and facilities. 

Their conservation and maintenance as well as 
urgent work satisfying health and safety standards 
are under the responsibility of PWGSC, the 

custodian of the assets. Security, maintenance and 
mechanical services, the development of green 
space and environmental management services 

make the Old Port site enjoyable, clean, safe and 
functional for commercial operations and public 
attractions. The conservation and protection of the 

site’s architectural and landscape heritage should 
be ensured with regular maintenance and well as 
repairs to and the preservation of buildings and 

equipment, with the resources at its disposal. 

Managing, Developing and Holding Activities on 
an Urban Recreational, Tourist, and Cultural Site 

The Corporation ensures the management of a vast 
site including an urban park as well as an institution 

for the dissemination of 

scientific culture. The Quays of 
the Old Port business unit is in 
charge of showcasing the site’s 

historical, maritime and 
harbourfront character as well 
as the variety of programmed 

events offered throughout the year. Within this 
context, the Quays of the Old Port unit: 
• Offers on-site hospitality and information 

services; 
• Produces events such as Feux sur glace 

TELUS ; 

• Ensures that events organized by outside 
producers are held on the site; 

• Manages La Balade, the Port d’escale as well 

as locks n° 1 and 2 at the Lachine Canal;  
• Ensures that concession holders operating 

maritime, sporting or outdoor activities or a 

variety of restaurant services set up and 
maintain operations;  

• Operates a refrigerated outdoor skating rink 

during the winter;  
• Manages parking facilities. 
 

The Montréal Science Centre business unit is in 
charge of: 

• Developing and presenting permanent and 
temporary interactive exhibitions in the field of 

science;  
• Developing and presenting cultural and 

educational activities in the field of science; 

• Operating the IMAX®TELUS Theatre and the 
movie game;  

• Ensuring corporate rental services; 

• Managing concession holders. 

Corporate services support the work of the two 
business units, assuming responsibility for: 

• Operations required for site management; 
• Financial and administrative matters, as well as 

information technology management;   

• Human resources management; 
• All activities related to marketing, 

communications, the search for partners and 

relations with various partners in the private 
sector, Canadian or foreign museums and the 
various levels of government. 

 
 
SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
 
The Corporation’s social responsibility is primarily 
defined by three government objectives, which were 
reiterated and supported by the guiding principles 

for development resulting from the public 
consultations in 1985-86: 
 
 
• Improve urban living conditions and public 

access to the river 
� Everyone should have access to the site and be 

able to circulate freely and easily. 

� All development should preserve or highlight the 
exceptional vistas of the site itself, the river, and 
the city. 

� All development should reflect real collective 
needs for which the site is particularly 
appropriate. 

• Protect and promote Canadian cultural heritage 

� The Old Port’s significant historical, maritime, 
and harbour relics should be highlighted. 

• Contribute to economic development efforts 
� The Old Port should encourage and support 

rather than compete against neighbouring 
areas. 

� Make the Old Port’s development a 
complementary part of the development of 
greater downtown Montréal area.  

� Encourage the participation of the various levels 
of government in the planning and management 
of its development.  
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In each of its endeavours, the Corporation is 
concerned about preserving visual contact with the 
river. Access to the site, as well as to a large 
number of activities, is free. The programming 
which it offers is chosen based on events suitable 
for the particularities of the site and that meet the 
needs of customers and the Old Port’s environment. 
Given the nature of the Corporation’s operations, its 

concerns are always 
focussed on the visitor. In 
this respect, the 
Corporation is responsible 
for offering visitors top-
quality service.  

  
As a leading social player, the MSC plays an 
important role in educating young people in the 
fields of science and technology with its activities 
and contributes to promoting innovations and 
training teachers and the next generation of 
scientists. Due to its involvement in the scientific 
community, the MSC has become a hub for players 
in the education sector and museums, scientific 
associations and scientists themselves. Through 
the MSC, the Corporation seeks to encourage 
young people to develop a taste for a career in 
science so as to train the next generation of 
scientists and to meet the challenges facing 
researchers and companies. It works together with 
other organizations to ensure that young people in 
underprivileged areas also have access to the 
exhibitions.   
 
The Corporation, which is responsible for managing 
a unique national heritage site, attempts to preserve 
facilities to the best of its abilities. It is aware of the 
value of the site’s relics and takes action with the 
means at its disposal. In addition, it disseminates 
the quality and diversity of Canadian culture as well 
as that of its communities through its programming. 
The Old Port Quays is an important part of the 
urban landscape and is one of Montréal’s cultural 
and tourist attractions.  
 
The Corporation plays an active role in community 
life and is in constant contact with Montréal 
organizations and institutions. It is a member of the 
Board of Directors of the Conseil québécois de 
l’industrie touristique, is involved in the work of 
Culture Montréal, the Table de concertation du 
Vieux-Montréal and the Regroupement des 
organismes culturels du Vieux-Montréal. It is also in 
constant dialogue with the Association des 
résidants du Vieux-Montréal to preserve the 
environment and the quality of life of residents.  

 
The Corporation is a corporate citizen of Montréal 
and makes its voice heard when investments must 
be made for the conservation and enhancement of 
assets and infrastructures, the improvement of 
citizens’ quality of life and safety, and local 
economic and cultural development. 
 
There is no doubt that enhancing the federal Old 
Port site, its facilities and its heritage aspects and 
increasing the number of quality cultural and 
recreational activities offered contribute to the city’s 
cultural and socio-economic vitality, to its 
recognition and to its national and international 
visibility.  
 
 
COMMITMENT TO QUALITY  
 
In 2005, the Corporation received accreditation from 
the Bureau de normalisation du Québec regarding 
the Customer services – Attractions and Events 
standard.  (BNQ  9700-085).  
 
This accreditation affects all of the Corporation’s 
activities, employees at all levels and concession 
holders and partners involved in its activities in one 
way or another. Requirements pertain to customer 
service, equipment, human resources, security, and 
respect for the natural and human environment.  
 
The commitment to quality that is the basis of this 
accreditation is primarily aimed at contributing to 
customer satisfaction and ensuring that a visit to the 
Old Port of Montréal is a memorable experience.  
 
Our commitment to quality is more than a slogan. It 
is a source of motivation for our entire team, whose 
members undertake to: 

• Greet visitors warmly, courteously and 
efficiently. 

• Ensure the safety of visitors and their property. 
• Provide clear, complete and accurate 

information in all of our communications to 
visitors. 

• Show consideration to persons with specific 
needs or limitations. 

• Learn more about visitors’ needs so that our 
products meet their expectations. 

• Provide visitors with clean, appropriate 
equipment that is in perfect working order and 
that meets the current safety standards; 

• Promote the safeguarding of natural resources 
and put in place responsible environmental 
practices.  
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• Comply and ensure compliance with the code of 
ethics of the tourist industry and with the 
standard for service quality in the attractions and 
events sector. 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY 
 
The Corporation’s commitment to protect the 
environment, which was ratified by its Board of 
Directors in 2003, reads as follows: 
 
“The Old Port of 
Montréal 
Corporation Inc. 
(the 
“Corporation”) 
recognizes the 
importance of 
incorporating 
protection of the 
environment as effectively as possible in the 
management of the Corporation’s activities and 
intends to make continuous efforts to promote this 
principle with its employees, partners and 
customers.” 
 
With this objective in mind, the Corporation 
undertakes to: 
• Respect legislative and regulatory requirements in 

effect relating to the environment; 

• Constantly improve its effectiveness to 
increase its environmental performance; 

• Prevent pollution. 
The Corporation plans to take the following steps to 
achieve this objective: 
• Make its employees aware of their role and 

obligations to protect the environment, provide 
related training and make them appropriately 
accountable for their actions; 

• Minimize the risk of site contamination resulting 
from the Corporation’s activities; 

• Promote the application of principles of reducing, 
reusing, recycling and enhancing; 

• Set clear and measurable environmental 
objectives and ensure a regular follow-up; 

• Reduce energy consumption; 
• Make partners working on the site aware of the 

Corporation’s environmental commitment and 
manage the environmental impacts resulting 
from their activities on the site; 

• Submit a semi-annual progress report to the 
Board of Directors setting out the Corporation’s 
environmental performance. 
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Performance Assessment  
 
Performance figures are presented according to the Corporation’s three key sectors of activities: 

• The Quays of the Old Port business unit; 
• The Montréal Science Centre business unit; 
• Corporate services, including Finance and Administration, Site Management, Marketing and Human 

Resources. 
 
 

QUAYS OF THE OLD PORT BUSINESS UNIT 

 
The Quays of the Old Port business unit takes responsibility for products and services which help 
disseminate the arts and Canadian diversity and which showcase the site’s maritime and harbourfront 

history, as well as recreational and tourism activities, and commercial activities and services.    
 
 
Performance Summary  
 
RESULTS OBSERVATIONS 

 

 

 

 
Variance: 
2% above  
set target. 

 

 

 
 
 

Although the number of visitors to the site during the winter months rose 14%, 
the number of visitors in the summer declined 9%. Summer results are 
attributable to bad weather and a decline in the number of U.S. tourists visiting 
Québec.    

 

 

 

• The total number of visitors to the 

site decreased 4% compared to 

2005-2006. 

 

 

 

 
Variance: 

0.5% below  set   

target. 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Activities held on the site, in particular initiatives of concession holders, in 
addition to the increased number of maritime activities, helped the Corporation 
to reach its set target in spite of a lack of a major event on the site. 

 

 

 

• Revenues generated by 

commercial activities increased 

1% compared to last year.  

 

Revenues from events and concessions - Quays ($)  
 

Total number of visitors to the Quays (number of visitors) 
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RESULTS 
 

OBSERVATIONS 

 

 

 
 

Variance: 
13% above  

set target. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Events such as International Flora Montréal, the Feux sur glace TELUS and the 
Montreal High lights Festival certainly played a role in achieving this objective. 
The slight decline compared to last year is attributable to the fact that the Cirque 
du Soleil did not hold any shows on the site. 

 

 

 

• Parking revenues for the Quays 

decreased 5% compared to 

2005-2006. 

 

 

 

 
Variance: 

29% above  

set target. 

 

 
 
 

International Flora Montréal, the Environment Show, the International ExpoArt 

Festival, the Artegonia Cultural Festival and the Igloofest event are but a few of the 
new events that were included in the programming for the Quays of the Old Port in 
2006-2007.  

 

 

 

• 11 more events were held at the 

Quays of the Old Port compared 

to 2005-2006. 

 

 

 

 
Variance: 

53% above  
set target. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

New events and activities, in particular those held by concession holders, made 
it possible to largely exceed the set objective.  

 

 

 

• The number of days of activities 

rose 23% compared to 2005-

2006. 

 

 

 

 
Variance: 

14% above  

set target. 

 
 
 
 
 

Overall brand awareness, including awareness of the new name “Quays,” increased 
substantially compared to the list of best known recreational and tourism centres in 
the Greater Montréal Area. The Quays are now as well known as Mount Royal Park.  

 

 

 

• Overall awareness of the Quays 

of the Old Port jumped 19 % 

compared to 2005-2006. 

 

Activities held on the Quays (number of days of activities)  

Events held on the Quays (number of events)  

 

Awareness of the Quays   

Parking Revenues – Quays ($)  
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Operating Report   ����   Quays of the Old Port 
 
 
The total number of visitors to the Quays of the 
Old Port has remained relatively stable in the 
past several years. Some 5,327,693 people 
visited the site in 2006-2007, down 4% from last 
year. This slight decrease is attributable to the 
summer season, for which a 9% drop in 
attendance was recorded.  The hot, humid and 
rainy weather in the summer and the sharp drop 
in temperatures in September are but a few of the 
factors that explain this slight decrease. Fewer 
American tourists visiting Montréal and the limited 
number of major events on the site also play a 
role in the decline.  
 
The decline in summer attendance numbers is 
offset by an increase during the winter season.  
In fact, the efforts made to increase and improve 
the number of winter offerings resulted in a 
significant 14% increase in the number of visitors 
to the Quays from October to March. More than 
1.5 million people visited the site during the 
winter this past year, which is almost half the 
number of visitors during the summer. The efforts 
made in the past few years to make the site more 
attractive during the winter and thus to attract 
visitors year round are therefore providing results.  
 

Although making the 
Quays of the Old Port a 
year round attraction is a 
constant concern for the 
Corporation’s 
management, the 
ultimate objective is not 

to keep increasing overall attendance numbers. 
On the contrary, the emphasis is more on quality 
than quantity. The objective is to increase the 
average amount spent per visitor.  The Quays 
team is seeking a balance and is working to 
develop the site’s attributes according to the 
positioning adopted while respecting the local 
environment. It is in this spirit that action was 
taken this year.  

Objectives of the New Quays of the Old Port 
Business Unit  

Although the newly created Quays of the Old Port 
unit was put into operation last year, its name 
was made official at the beginning of this year 
with the launching of a distinctive logo.   

 
With this new identity, the Quays management 
worked hard this year to devise and plan the 
action to be taken. As the 
basis of this work, an 
assessment was 
performed and 
recommendations were 
made to develop the 
Marketing Plan, which includes the guidelines 
and strategies adopted to assert the Quays’ own 
identity and to consolidate and develop offerings 
according to the principal mandates and the 
major products included therein. 
 
These planning tools take into account both the 
features and attributes of the Quays identity and 
the positioning of Montréal on the River that has 
been adopted. All of these considerations come 
together and are guidelines enabling the unit to 
continue its development and meet its objectives. 
 
The marketing plan results in an impressive 
series of programming plans that organize the 
action to be taken in the next three years for the 
activities, events, restaurant services and 
boutiques sectors, not to mention the marketing 
plan developed specifically for parking facilities. 
Although they are of secondary importance, the 
parking facilities managed by the Corporation are 
a major revenue source that the Corporation 
would like to optimize by adopting proactive 
marketing strategies. 
 
All of this planning has major repercussions on 
the services provided by the Quays of the Old 
Port team.  To optimize the efforts being made, 
management has reorganized the unit’s internal 
structure and its operating methods.    
 

Strengthened Offerings of Maritime Products 
and Services  

Maritime products and services are an important 
part of what the Quays offer visitors, and are 
central in the deployment of the positioning of 
Montréal on the River.  The Nautical 

Development Plan adopted last year is a tool that 
guides the Quays in its efforts to consolidate, 
update and renew its nautical services.   
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The new marina at the Old Port was put into 
operation in 2006-2007. Following an agreement 
reached last year, the Montréal Yacht Club, a 
private partner in charge of managing this marina 
with some 205 dock spaces on the Clock Tower 
Pier, therefore welcomed the first boaters this 
year. This first operating season has shown that 
the management agreement signed ensures that 
customers receive top-quality service.   
 
In connection with the opening of the marina, the 
Corporation made renovations to the lower dock 
bordering on the Montréal Yacht Club and repairs 
to the adjoining parking areas.  This work 
addressed the most urgent needs while awaiting 
government funding to carry out major 
improvement and re-development programs. 
 
The marina, which welcomes seasonal boaters or 

those staying for a longer 
period of time, has different 
activities than the Port 
d’escale, which plays a better 
role by reserving its 95 dock 
spaces for boaters visiting for 
three days or less. The quality 
of the services provided at the 
Port d’escale was recognized 

this year through the Association maritime du 
Québec’s new program for ranking marinas. This 
program is managed by the Corporation de 
l’industrie touristique du Québec. Boaters see this 
as an objective and reliable tool to guide their 
choice of home port. For the Corporation, this 
ranking is a way to assert its desire to provide 
high quality service. The Old Port’s Port d’escale 
has been awarded three out of a possible five 
golden anchors. Its short-term objective is to be 
awarded four golden anchors. The project to re-
develop floating docks and to improve services 
which the Quays management is contemplating 
for the Port d’escale should help achieve this 
objective.  
 
Among other things, the project involves carrying 
out the necessary work so that infrastructures 
and dock services are up to current standards. In 
addition, it has become necessary to address the 
obsolescence of the Port d’escale’s floating 
docks.  The cost of replacing these floating docks 
was assessed this year. 
 
In spite of high gasoline prices and a general 
decline in the number of U.S. tourists visiting 

Québec, the revenues generated by the Port 
d’escale were up slightly by 4%. Limiting stays to 
three days or less may explain this increase in 
spite of an unfavourable context. However, 
revenues from boaters passing through Locks 1 
and 2 were down 10% compared to last year. It 
should be noted that the 
configuration of the Locks limits 
their use by larger vessels, 
which are becoming 
increasingly common.    
 
Cruises remain a focal event for 
the Corporation, not to mention 
that they generate substantial revenues. Évasion 
Plus cruises, which was added to the 
Corporation’s business partners in the last fiscal 
year, had its mandate extended so that it may 
now target corporate groups, which represent a 
growing demand, particularly on evenings when 
the International des Feux Loto-Québec 
(international fireworks competition) is held at La 
Ronde. The Corporation would like to better meet 
client needs. 
 
This desire to provide good client service 
motivates the Quays management to remain 
abreast of current trends for maritime products 
and services. It is with this in mind that the 
Corporation has increased its presence at 
professional events or those targeting the general 
public associated with the various aspects of 
maritime products and services.  This year, 
members of the Quays team took part in the 
Eastern Canadian cruises and excursions 
symposium and the Montréal Boat Show, where 
the Corporation operated a booth together with 
the Montréal Yacht Club. 
 
Many people have a fascination with boats. The 
Corporation’s Harbour Master is continuing to 
encourage vessels of 
interest to dock at the 
Old Port. This year, the 
number of megayachts 
increased by over 50%. 
These vessels also 
remained at the Old 
Port for a longer period 
of time, since the number of guest-nights jumped 
80%. 
 
Finally, the Old Port is made more attractive 
when cruise ships or vessels that are open for a 
visit come to dock. Some of the vessels that 
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could be visited by the public in 2006-2007 
included two sail boats, the Georges Leblanc and 
the Mist of Avalon, in addition to three frigates, 
the HS Aegean, HS Prometheus and HMCS 

Frederickton. 
 
 

Many Events Attract Visitors to the Site  

The marketing plan of the Quays unit affirms the 
desire to develop events and activities that are in 
keeping with the attributes of and the proposed 
positioning for the Quays. The selection criteria 
have been reviewed and now provide guidelines 
for choosing new events to be held on the site.   
 
Maintaining a site with attractive activities is a 
winning formula for arousing visitors’ interest. A 
number events and activities are held at the 
Quays of the Old Port. A total of 496 days of 
activities were held, up 23% over 2005-2006.  A 
total of 54 events were held this year compared 
to 43 last year.  Most activities are held in the 
summer months, although the situation for the 
winter season is changing quickly.  
 
International Flora Montréal 2006 is part of the 
new strategy that has been defined. This event 
attracted more than 150,000 visitors, although 
this was less than expected. However, this 
original and high-quality concept was difficult to 
define and to position.  It was put at a 
disadvantage due to comparisons with the 
International Mosaiculture of Montréal event held 
on the site several years ago. The international 
scope and press coverage for International Flora 
Montréal had some positive consequences in 
terms of public awareness of the Quays of the 
Old Port.  However, this event did not attract as 
many visitors to the site as had been expected. 
The fact that the Cirque du Soleil did not hold any 
shows on the site this year is also worthy of 

mention. Aside from 
the Flora exhibition, 
no major event with 
the same scope was 
held at the Quays of 
the Old Port during 
the summer.  
 
This year, summer 

programming included a number of return events, 
including See You on the Quays, which kicks off 
the summer season, the Bouquinistes du Saint-

Laurent, Canada Day celebrations, the Montréal 

international Reggae Festival and the Salsafolies 
held on Sunday afternoons.  
 
Some new events have enhanced the offerings at 
the Quays of the Old Port. An association with 
Groupe Spectacles Gillet made it possible to 
present four evening shows featuring popular 
rock musicians at the Jacques-Cartier Pier. 
Events were also added to develop new market 
niches. The first Environment Show is but one 
example. This event, which features a very 
current theme, managed to draw more than 
15,000 visitors to the site in spite of very bad 
weather.  The Quays also hosted the first 
International ExpoArt Festival. This event 
attracted art lovers and collectors to discover 
over 600 works of art being featured by 
independent and gallery artists from Québec, the 
rest of Canada and around the world. More than 
20,000 people came to enjoy the event.  
Similarly, for the first time the Quays presented 
some of the programmed events for the 
Artegonia Cultural Festival held in several 
locations around Old Montréal. The DuBuffet 
exhibition, a major festival attraction, was set up 
in the Jacques-Cartier Pavillion. Some original 
works of this celebrated artist were featured. 
 
Activities also serve to attract 
visitors to the Quays of the Old 
Port. This important variable 
makes it possible to create an 
ambiance and to make the site 
more lively. The activities held 
by concession holders, an 
initiative that the Corporation 
encourages, create centres of attraction that 
make the visitor’s experience even more 
memorable.  The marketing team plays a 
significant role in this area. Among other things, it 
ensures that concession holders and sponsors 
forge successful alliances, which ultimately leads 
to the emergence of new activities, such as 
evening shows and theme cocktail hours this 
year. 
 
Finally, in keeping with its desire to better inform 
customers, the Corporation put a new information 
booth into operation at the McGill Street 
entrance.  Visitors can now obtain information on 
programmed activities and events held on the site 
more easily.   
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An Attractive Site for All Seasons  

One of the major mandates of the office of the 
Vice-president, Quays of the Old Port is ensuring 
that the site is fully recognized as a recreational 
and tourist destination for all seasons. 
Developing offerings for the winter season is part 
of this objective. The year 2005-2006 was a 
turning point with the presentation of major 
events such as the Feux sur glace TELUS and 
the Montreal High lights Festival. The Corporation 
continued its efforts in 2006-2007, which resulted 
in activities and outdoor shows enhancing the 
Feux sur glace TELUS. A new winter bar was 
also opened on Bonsecours Island, and the pilot 
project was so successful that it remained open 
longer.   
 
An original concept, the Igloofest, was one of the 
new activities held in the winter. This innovative 
event, held in collaboration with the Piknic 
Électronik, attracted thousands of visitors to 
come and party to electronic music in spite of 
freezing temperatures.  
 
The Montreal High lights Festival was held at the 
Quays of the Old Port for the second year. Since 
activities were planned over a longer period of 
time this year, the work to co-produce the event 
handled by the Quays of the Old Port and 
Montreal High lights Festival organizers was 
much more efficient.  The event proved to be very 
successful, enabling the Quays of the Old Port to 
enjoy exceptional visibility at this time of year. 
 
The refrigerated outdoor skating rink remains a 
flagship product for the winter season at the 
Quays of the Old Port.  Despite unfavourable 
temperatures at the beginning of the season, 
there was a slight increase in the number of 
skaters compared to last year. The improved 
area for hospitality services and the 
reorganization of and improvements to the quality 
of products and services offered by the Bistro des 
Terrasses Bonsecours helped to make the 
experience even more enjoyable for skaters.  
 
In short, the efforts made to increase the number 
of visitors to the site provided results. The 
number of visitors to the Quays rose 14%, 22% 
considering only the middle of winter (December 
to March). 
 
 

Showcasing a Heritage Site  

Above all else, the Quays of the Old Port is a 
heritage site whose protection and promotion are 
implicitly ensured with action taken by the 
Corporation each and every day.   
 
Work on 
developing a 
heritage 
interpretation 
program 
began in 
2006-2007 
and will be 
completed in the coming fiscal year.   
 
The conservation of the Daniel McAllister tugboat 
has been postponed due to a lack of funding.  
 
The Corporation hopes to be able to develop its 
equipment and facilities in the near future with the 
adoption of the 2005-2015 Vision Development.  
 
 

Outlook for the Future  

The team will continue to focus on developing 
and positioning the products and services offered 
by the Quays of the Old Port. The action plans to 
be implemented will dictate operations to be 
undertaken in the coming years. 
 
Maritime offerings are of central importance to 
the Quays management. Re-developing the Port 
d’escale and improving the services provided are 
priorities for the coming year. As for the events 
and activities to be held on the site, the Cirque du 
Soleil will return in the coming year to present its 
new show, Kooza. International Flora Montréal 

will return for a second year and this event’s 
positioning and media deployment have been 
reviewed. This event is a major attraction for the 
Western sector of the site. 
 
Where the development of winter products and 
services is concerned, in the coming year the 
Quays team and corporate services will seek to 
ensure that these products and services feature 
the attributes and the identity of the Quays.  This 
involves substantially reviewing programmed 
events and activities and the choice of sponsors 
and business partners.  
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MONTRÉAL SCIENCE CENTRE BUSINESS UNIT 

 
The Montréal Science Centre business unit is in charge of products and services for developing and 

promoting scientific and technological literacy.  
 
Performance Summary  
 
 
 
RESULTS  OBSERVATIONS 

 

 

 
 

 
  
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

• More educational activities were 

held at the MSC compared to 

2005-2006. 

 

 

 

 
Variance: 

14% above  

set target. 

 
 
 
 
 

The MSC had incurred substantial losses in the last fiscal year as a result of the 
boycott of cultural outings by Québec teachers. The results achieved are due to 
the relevance of the products offered and better targeted marketing efforts.  

 

 

•  33% increase in MSC ticket 

sales compared to 2005-2006. 

  

 

 

 

 
Variance: 
7% above   

set target. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attendance generated by free activities such as the Techonophiles, art 
exhibitions or other promotional events, as well as by corporate rentals, is 
added to the number of visitors for the exhibitions or the IMAX®TELUS Theatre. 

 

 

 

• 24% increase in total attendance 

numbers, representing just over 

150,000 additional visitors 

compared to last year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All of the MSC’s targets in terms of products and services were 

achieved. Seven exhibitions and 19 cultural activities were held as 

planned. More educational activities were held than planned (29 held 

whereas 19 were announced).  Activities relating to the temporary 

exhibition being presented, new rallies and educational programs, in 

addition to two events in connection with the LabUQAM, were added. 

Total attendance - MSC (number of visitors)  
 

Number of exhibitions and cultural and educational activities 
held at the MSC 

Number of ticket sales - MSC  
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RESULTS  OBSERVATIONS  
 

 

 

 

 
 

Variance: 
24% above  

set target. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The results are attributable to a substantial increase in ticket sales, in particular 
an extraordinary number for the IMAX®TELUS Theatre. 

 

 

 

 

• Compared to 2005-2006, 

$1.4 million in additional 

revenues were generated by the 

MSC ticket office this year.  

 

 

 

 
 

Variance: 
 34% above  

set target. 

 

 
 
 
 

Greater-than-expected attendance recorded by the IMAX®TELUS Theatre and 
from corporate rentals made it possible to exceed the set target. 
 

 

 

 

• Some $186,000 in additional 

revenues associated with the 

MSC’s commercial activities were 

generated compared to last year. 

. 

 
 

 

 

 

 
Variance: 

20% above  

set target. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
The increase in the number of visitors for MSC products, primarily the 
IMAX®TELUS Theatre, contributed to the higher parking revenues recorded. 

 

 

 

 

 

• The MSC’s parking revenues 

rose by more than 5% compared 

to 2005-2006. 

Parking revenues - CSM ($) 

Revenues from programming – MSC ($) 

Revenues from concessions and corporate rentals - MSC ($) 
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RESULTS  OBSERVATIONS  

 

 

 

 

 
Variance: 

21% above  

set target. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The sharp rise in ticket revenues and revenues from commercial activities enabled 
the MSC to significantly increase its share of operating revenues.  

 

 

 

 

 

• The MSC’s cash from operations 

rose significantly by 25% 

compared to 2005-2006. 

 

 

 

 
Variance  

3% below  

set target. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
The overall level of awareness of the MSC in the “science centre in the Greater 
Montréal Area” category has remained relatively stable over the past several years.  

 

 

 

 

• Slight increase in the overall level 

of awareness of the MSC 

compared to 2005-2006. 

 
 
 

MSC self-financing (%) 
 

Brand awareness - MSC 
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Operating Report ����   Montréal Science Centre 

 
 
Diverse and quality programming that is constantly 
being renewed, in addition to new types of marketing 
efforts, have enabled the Montréal Science Centre 
(MSC) to achieve attendance numbers reminiscent 
of its first year of operation, a result that has been 
unmatched to date.   
 
A total of 709,770 visitors came to enjoy one of the 
five types of activities offered by the MSC, i.e., its 
permanent and temporary exhibitions, cultural and 

educational activities, or 
films being presented at 
the IMAX®TELUS 
Theatre, compared to a 
target of 620,000 visitors. 
This represents a 33% 
increase compared to last 
year. Overall, more than 

700,000 people visited the MSC this past year. If 
ticket sales generated by the free activities or those 
held around the MSC, such as promotional events 
and corporate rentals, are included, the number of 
visitors rises to close to 770,000, exceeding the 
target of 715,000 for 2006-2007. 
 
This increase in attendance provided some positive 
spin-offs in terms of the revenues generated. The 
overall objectives in this area were also exceeded, 
enabling the MSC to significantly increase its cash 
flow from operating activities.   
 
As well as making the necessary efforts to offer 
exhibitions in addition to a wealth of educational and 
cultural programming, the MSC team also planned 
and prepared for the renewal of the centre’s 
permanent exhibitions and the presentation of the 
Body Worlds 2 exhibition by the Montréal Science 
Centre Foundation this year. These exhibitions will 
be unveiled in the next fiscal year. 

A Variety of Renewed Exhibitions   

This year, the MSC presented six exhibitions in 
addition to its permanent exhibitions, Technocity and 
Eureka!. In keeping with management’s desire to 
mainly target 9 to 14 year olds, Dynamo’s Lair, a 
play area for 4 to 7 year olds that opened in 2003, 
was dismantled in January 2007.   
 
Visitors to the MSC discovered a temporary 
exhibition, Ice Age Mammals, which opened in April 
2006. This exhibition, which was made possible 

through cooperation between the MSC, the 
Canadian Museum of Nature in Ottawa,  the Yukon 
Beringia Interpretive Centre and the Royal Tyrrell 
Museum of Paleontology in Alberta, teaches visitors 
about species of animals that lived in the Canadian 
high arctic and that have been extinct for thousands 
of years.   
 
In connection with this exhibition, visitors were also 
able to admire twenty paintings by George 
Teichmann, an artist specialized in representing 
prehistoric animals, in the panoramic hall. The 
paintings illustrated creatures that are now extinct. 
Some 40 spectacular aerial photographs of 
Greenland and lakes formed during the summer by 
melting glaciers were also presented in the public 
areas on the MSC’s main floor.  
 
The MSC also unveiled its Energy Art exhibition 
produced in connection with the Québec Education 
Department’s Soutenir l’école montréalaise program, 
in partnership with the Montréal Museum of 
Contemporary Art. This exhibition featured the 
collective works of school groups from 17 
elementary schools and three high schools. This 
creative exercise with the theme of energy involved 
combining scientific principles and artistic creativity.   
 
Finally, the MSC hosted the exhibition for the 9th 
annual awards of the Institut de design de Montréal. 
This exhibition targeted lovers of design and unusual 
objects. It helped to develop the MSC’s public and 
its visibility.  

 
The MSC team also focussed on completely 
renewing the centre’s permanent exhibitions. The 
MSC 2007 project, which deals with themes such as 
dreaming, thinking, acting, and understanding as 
well as issues of technological innovation and the 
port theme, was initiated three years ago and covers 
2,500 m2 of exhibition space. It will be inaugurated in 
the fall of 2007.  Efforts were made this year to 
finalize the content and design. Production will be 
finalized in the coming months.  
 
In addition to these preparations, the MSC team and 
corporate services personnel helped plan for the 
arrival of the popular Body Worlds 2 exhibition 
presented by the Montréal Science Centre 
Foundation. A number of the Corporation’s 
employees worked on logistical issues to ensure that 
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adequate exhibition space is provided. They also 
worked on hospitality, customer service and 
marketing. This unusual exhibition featuring human 
anatomy, which has already been presented in 
several major U.S. cities as well as in Japan and 
Europe, is expected to attract three times the 
number of visitors as usual to the MSC, which 
represents a substantial number of new visitors for 
the institution.   

Stimulating and Engaging Cultural Activities  

The MSC held no fewer than 20 cultural activities 
this year. The cultural endeavours program, which 
was mainly developed according to a citizens 
approach, included theme weeks, events grouped 
together under the theme of Science and Society as 
well as conferences intended for an adult public and 
special projects. Some events featured the work of 
young budding scientists whereas others ensured 
the presence of science and technology in the city.   
 
Three theme weeks targeting young people, in 
particular 9 to 14 year olds, were developed and 
held by the MSC in 2006-2007. Extinction Threats to 

Humanity raised young people’s awareness of 
troubling issues for the future of humanity and 
possible scientific and technological solutions 
through activities and a play.   
 
In a very different vein, the MSC also presented 

Backstage Access. In its desire to provide attractive 
offerings to families during 
the holiday season, the 
MSC focussed on the world 
of the performing arts.  It 
de-mystified what goes on 
behind the scenes of a 
stage production in terms of 
lighting and sound 
equipment and decor while 

showing young visitors how science and technology 
are used to create a show. The Robofolies, another 
family event, was held once again during spring 
break.  Young visitors were delighted to see an array 
of robots from France.  This sixth and final edition of 
the Robofolies was a success, attracting close to 
28,000 visitors to the MSC, up 33% compared to last 
year.  The MSC’s management is particularly proud 
of these results achieved at a time of year when 
most cultural and entertainment institutions redouble 
their efforts to attract children and their families.  
 
In its desire to encourage young people to see 
themselves as citizens and to raise their awareness 
of social issues, the MSC invited 12 to 14 year olds 

to take part in three activities as part of its Science 

and Society program: a jury on ethics and clinical 
research, a conference on biometry and safety and 
a forum on junk food.   
An entire series of special activities were added to 
these theme weeks and this citizens action. Some 
showcase knowledge and the scientific work of 
young people, such as the Symposium des sciences  
et technologie organized in partnership with the 
Commission scolaire de Montréal, the Défi génie 

inventif developed in collaboration with the Conseil 
de développement du loisir scientifique, the Défi des 

classes débrouillardes or the awarding of Alpha 
Elektra prizes. Other such special activities provide 
visibility for science and technology through the 
MSC’s participation in events such as Museum Day 

or the Montreal High lights Festival’s own Nuit 

Blanche.  
 
Finally, the conference cycle intended for an adult 
public should be mentioned. The conferences 
presented this year focussed on various diseases 
and featured experts and individuals presenting 
actual cases. Although they reach an entirely 
different public, these activities attract few new 
visitors to the MSC. Their relevance, at least in their 
current form, is being questioned by the MSC team. 

Educational Activities for the Integration of 
Knowledge  

Although 19 educational activities were planned for 
this year, no fewer than 29—almost twice the 
number—were actually held. Educational activities 
are invaluable tools to stimulate and encourage the 
integration of scientific and technical knowledge. 
School children represented 33% of the MSC’s total 
number of visitors this past year, an increase 
compared to last year, which was marked by the 
boycott of cultural outings by Québec teachers. The 
school clientele represents 49% of the total number 
of visitors to the MSC’s exhibitions, while it 
represents 25% of visitors to the IMAX®TELUS 
Theatre. 
 
Educational activities, several of which complement 
the exhibitions being presented, are developed to 
correspond to the school curriculum in elementary 
and high schools. This year, these activities included 
rallies, exploration games and demonstrations.  
 
The creative work of the MSC team must be 
mentioned. This year, the team developed 
prototypes for the Kit OOWatts to be used to assist 
teachers in raising young people’s awareness of the 
importance of energy conservation. This pilot 
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initiative, which was encouraged and supported by 
Hydro-Québec, became so relevant that Hydro-
Québec would like the project to take on even more 
importance in the coming year.   
 
The MSC sought, through different ways, to 
stimulate an interest in science and technology 
among young people. This year, it held two Science 

and Technology Days so that 12 to 14 year olds 
could see some of the 
career possibilities in the 
fields of science and 
technology.  The MSC is 
also continuing to support 
the training of teachers, 

primarily with courses and educational activities at 
the LabUQAM. Two specific projects were 
developed by university students, including a 
snapshot of the MSC’s exhibitions.  
 
Finally, it is important to point out the work done by 
the MSC team to develop two new educational 
programs related to the new permanent exhibitions 
that are part of the MSC 2007 project. These 
programs will be ready for the project’s inauguration 
in the fall of 2007.  
 
The MSC, which is firmly rooted in the community, 
takes action in various ways to develop scientific 
and cultural literacy and to give young people a taste 
for a career in these fields. In fact, it is very active in 
these areas. However, beyond educational and 
cultural concerns, the MSC is also a social player 
with a concern for issues in the community. It is for 
this reason that it became involved in the Tablée des 

Chefs this year. This community project aims to take 
surplus food and distribute it in under-privileged 
areas. The MSC put in place a mechanism to collect 
surplus food at corporate events. Given that it holds 
more than 450 events each year, the MSC is a 
major contributor to this project.  

Very Popular Film Offerings  

Annual programming for films at the IMAX®TELUS 
Theatre round out the MSC’s offerings. This 
programming remains extremely popular among 
young and old alike. Close to 70% of the MSC 
tickets sold are for one of the films being presented 
at the IMAX®TELUS Theatre. It should be pointed 
out that these films mainly attract individuals, 
including adults who would be less interested in the 
MSC’s exhibitions. The programming for the 
IMAX®TELUS Theatre therefore allows the MSC to 
expand its public. 
 

Three new films were presented this year: Deep Sea 

3D, Greece: Secrets of the Past and Sharks 3D. It is 
interesting to note that Deep Sea 3D was presented 
simultaneously in over 100 theatres in 11 countries. 
Six months after the film’s launch, the IMAX®TELUS 
Theatre at the MSC boasted the best performance 
worldwide in terms of ticket revenues and ticket 
sales, even though it began presenting the film 
several weeks later than the other theatres. 
 

Refined, Energized and Strengthened 
Promotional Efforts  

The MSC’s success this year in terms of its number 
of visitors is certainly a testament to the marketing 
plan that was adopted and to the targeted sales 
strategies that were implemented. The general 
objective of the marketing plan, which is being 
deployed over several years, is to boost the five 
major products that enable the MSC to reach and 
interest visitors. Above all else, the marketing 
challenge is to showcase and market these various 
products by developing clear and significant 
marketing proposals for customers so that a pace is 
set throughout the year and a real event is created 
for both the public and the media.  To meet this 
challenge, the MSC is re-focussing and 
strengthening its major activities, among other 
things.  
 
The MSC is now focussing on 9 to 14 year olds, 
giving young people the pleasure of learning in the 
presence of their friends.  Its team is making efforts 
to ensure that the experience is in keeping with this 
positioning. Providing a unique experience is also of 
paramount importance. The MSC wants to stand out 
in an increasingly competitive sector for cultural, 
recreational and tourism activities. To do this, 
innovation must be a key part of its development.  
 
A brand integration study was carried out this year 
for all of the MSC’s facilities and services with this in 
mind. Beyond the products offered, management 
wants visitors to immediately see, upon arriving at 
the site, that they are at the MSC.  
 
Customer satisfaction is of concern to the MSC. 
With the support of the Marketing Department, the 
MSC carried out a series of customer surveys to 
better ascertain interests and sensitivities. The 
surveys provided some valuable results allowing the 
MSC to adjust its strategies. In addition to these 
surveys, whose objective and scope were limited to 
certain products or activities, the MSC obtained the 
initial results of a longitudinal study of its clientele, 
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which was initiated in the last fiscal year and 
conducted over a twelve-month period every two 
years. The results show that 77% of the MSC’s 
customers were either satisfied or very satisfied with 
their visit to the MSC. The overall rating was 8.3/10. 
This study will enable the MSC to record and 
compare results over time and to more carefully 
monitor changes in customer behaviour.  
 
As is the case every year, the MSC wanted to 
ascertain brand awareness among Montrealers.  
There was a slight increase this year, from 54% to 
56%. The new presentations, as well as the 
successful Body Worlds 2 exhibition, should have 
positive repercussions for the MSC’s brand 
awareness in the next few years.   

An Increasingly Recognized Institution With 
Considerable Visibility   

The MSC has developed expertise that is attractive 
to more and more institutions interested in science 
and technology around the world, including some 
major institutions. For this reason, the MSC hosted 

several delegations from France 
this year (the École du Louvre, 
the Cité des sciences de Paris, 
La Villette, the Université Louis 
Pasteur, Espace Mendès-
France and a representative 

from museums in Nîmes). It also welcomed 
delegations from China, Belgium, and other 
Canadian institutions.   
 
Peer recognition also comes in the form of prizes 
and awards of distinction. The Snowbirds interactive 
game received an Intellichoix Excellence Award for 
the Public Recreational Activities category. The 
MSC was awarded this prize by the Réseau Famille 
in connection with Québec family week. It also 
received another award of excellence for its X-treme 
Rotation exhibition from the Société des musées 
québécois. 
 

Finally, it should be pointed out that an exhibition 
developed entirely by the MSC’s own team of 
experts was purchased by a European museum—a 
first in the MSC’s history. The MSC has therefore 
transferred the rights to Autopsy of a Murder to a 
museum in the Netherlands, which plans to adapt 
the exhibition and encourage its circulation 
throughout Europe. Autopsy of a Murder was 
recently presented at the Museum of Civilization in 
Québec City, attracting some 110,000 visitors. Close 
to 60,000 people have seen it at the Canada 

Science and Technology Museum in Ottawa, where 
it is still being presented. 

Products That Contribute Increasingly to the 
MSC’s Financial Performance  

The MSC’s management is proud of the financial 
results that have been achieved. The MSC has 
substantially increased its operating revenues this 
past year. Its level of self-financing—i.e., the MSC 
business unit’s operating revenues compared to its 
operating expenses—was 76% this year. Although 
the IMAX®TELUS Theatre is the institution’s primary 
source of operating revenues (more than 75%), 
commercial activities and parking revenues 
contribute to the results as well.   
 
Revenues generated by 
corporate rentals have 
increased in the past 
several years. This 
activity is taking on 
increasing importance as 
a source of operating 
revenues. Proactive 
marketing strategies, in particular strategies 
implemented through a partnership with Tourisme 
Montréal, made it possible to increase revenues 
from corporate rentals by close to 30%. Corporate 
events represent several tens of thousands of 
guests invited to the various events.  
 
The MSC’s financial performance is also attributable 
to the possibility to share the costs of a project or 
activity with other partners. Various types of 
partnerships are central to the MSC team’s work.  
For example, the themes for exhibitions and cultural 
activities are key tools for attracting partners. With 
the list of themes for 2009-2010 developed this year, 
various forms of collaboration can be contemplated. 
In addition to the financial variable, partnerships 
make it possible to share and exchange expertise, 
which ultimately enriches the action taken.    

Outlook for the Future  

The coming year will be filled with great new things 
for the MSC. Its team as well as the other staff 
responsible for managing hospitality and other 
services will be focussing their attention on the 
international calibre exhibition—Body Worlds 2—
presented by the Montréal Science Centre 
Foundation in the summer of 2007. There should be 
major consequences in terms of attendance 
numbers and the visibility of both the MSC and the 
Old Port site. 
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This exhibition will be followed by the inauguration of 
the new permanent exhibitions to be completed, 
fine-tuned and marketed by the fall. While all this 
preparatory work is carried out, the Odyssey of Light 
temporary exhibition, produced by the Museum of 
Civilization through its partnership with the MSC and 
the Canada Science and Technology Museum in 
Ottawa, will be presented in 2007-2008.  This 
exhibition, which features anthropological, artistic 
and scientific elements, invites visitors to gain a 
better grasp of light and its importance for human 
activity. 
 
The MSC will also work on organizing the first 
Science Festival. Although it has not been included 
in its programming, the MSC was given the mandate 

of producing this event following a recent request for 
proposals issued by the Conférence régionale des 
élus de Montréal. The MSC is in charge of putting 
together this new event that will invite the general 
public to discover the work of people involved in the 
field of science. Among other things, various 
museums, research centres, universities and 
associations will be present.   
 
The next phase of the Kit OOWatts project 
supported by Hydro-Québec, the contents of which 
will be unveiled in the next fiscal year, will be added 
to the MSC’s activities.  The MSC team will also 
ensure that it implements the recommendations from 
the MSC brand integration study. 
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CORPORATE SERVICES  

 

����   Operating Report ���� 

 
Corporate services, namely Marketing, Site 
Management, Finance and Administration and 
Human Resources, ensure the responsible and 
effective administration of the Corporation’s 
resources to allow for their sustainable and viable 
development.  
 
Major additions and changes were made to the 

Corporation’s management 
processes and practices in 2006-
2007. Corporate services initiated 
several of these improvements. 
They support the work of the 
Corporation’s two main business 
units and help to affirm the path to 
be taken by the Corporation in the 
future and to stay the course for 

the underlying objectives.  

New Images for the Corporation  

The Corporation’s positioning was re-defined and 
two new corporate images including a new logo for 
the Corporation and a distinct logo for the new 
Quays of the Old Port business unit were unveiled 
in May 2006. The Corporation’s new logo is a 
tangible sign of significant changes in its objectives 
and ways of doing things. Where the Quays of the 
Old Port are concerned, this new image makes the 
Corporation’s desire to renew its offerings according 
to its identity and its positioning as a Montréal 
recreational tourism site a reality. The 
consequences of this new positioning for the Quays 
are already apparent in the deployment of certain 
products and services, the selection of partners and 
sponsors and the development of marketing 
proposals. The integration and adaptation of internal 
management practices should continue in the years 
to come.    
 
The Corporation’s new corporate image was 
featured on the front page of Grafika, a well-known 
graphic communications magazine, a notable 
achievement. Not only was it well received by the 
design and communications community, this new 
image demonstrates the existence of the Quays of 
the Old Port and signals the Old Port’s desire to 
change for various players in areas where the 
Corporation operates.  

The 2005-2015 Vision Development is Still 
Current  

The 2005-2015 Vision Development, which was 
finalized last year, is a priority. The Corporation is 
still awaiting government approval and the 
necessary funding to implement the plan. It 
assessed various options for implementing the 
Vision this year to ensure that the process is both 
efficient and effective, and conducted several 
studies to better define needs and review its 
financial estimates. The Corporation’s management 
team also attended conferences and held 
discussions with various institutions whose recent 
development work can serve as a model (e.g, the 
Quartier international de Montréal, the Tohu, and 
the Grande Bibliothèque). 
 
Work to raise awareness of major government 
stakeholders and influential players in the various 

sectors affected by action 
taken by the Old Port of 
Montréal Corporation has 
made it possible to confirm 
the Corporation’s Vision 

Development with 
numerous shows of support.  Major partners, 
including the city of Montréal, the Board of Trade of 
Metropolitan Montréal or Tourisme Montréal, have 
made the 2005-2015 Vision Development a priority 
for ensuring the city’s economic development and 
competitiveness.   
 
The Vision remains the framework for the 
Corporation’s desired action and evolution. Studies 
conducted to improve or transform the site are in 
keeping with this Vision. The development of a pre-
feasibility study for implementing a public transit 
pilot project, needs assessments for the Jacques-
Cartier and Bonsecours pavilions, and studies to 
develop H16, are but a few examples.  

An Organizational Deployment That Has Been 
Adapted  

Where organizational matters are concerned, the 
Corporation is continuing to implement the changes 
initiated in 2005-2006 with the creation of the new 
Quays of the Old Port business unit and the arrival 
of a new Vice-president. This new unit has planning 
and action tools which require the adaptation of the 
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current organizational structure for an optimal and 
effective deployment of services. The Quays 
management carried out this reconfiguration this 
year with the support of the office of the Vice-
president, Human Resources.   
 
Managing by business unit means that the 
organizational structure of the other departments 
must be adapted. The office of the Vice-president, 
Site Management began this work by consolidating 
management in charge of development and 
construction work. The office of the Vice-president, 
Marketing will complete this work in the coming 
year.   

Better Business Processes and Management 
Tools   

The Corporation’s senior management, in 
cooperation with each office of the Vice-president, 
began the work required to define an internal project 
and portfolio management structure, a major 
endeavour for optimizing business processes. This 
vast undertaking, which resulted from the 
recommendations made by the Office of the Auditor 
General (OAG) following the special examination 
performed in 2004, is based on an assessment 
highlighting management-related problems and 
internal issues.  The system developed emphasizes 
process effectiveness above all else and signals an 
important shift in the Corporation’s ways of doing 
things, from an individual approach to mutual 
cooperation.  This system therefore emphasizes a 
multi-department logic. It also represents a desire to 
better define needs and each person’s roles and 
responsibilities. This management system involves 
all corporate and capital projects to be carried out 
throughout a process with five major steps. The 
process will ensure that the various aspects of the 
projects, the resulting impacts and the risks are taken 
into account. The system involves a strict follow-up 
process including progress reports and approval of 
the various phases of the work by the Executive 
Committee composed of members of the 
Corporation’s senior management team. At the end 
of the current fiscal year, this system is finally ready, 
the employees concerned have received their 
training and a project inventory has been 
established.  
 
Implementation of the document and archive 
management system, which was also mentioned in 
the recommendations following the special review by 
the OAG, was completed this year. This system, 
which includes a schedule for keeping documents, 
will make it possible to process and retrieve 

information more efficiently. It also facilitates the 
Corporation’s work in handling requests under the 
Access to Information Act or the Privacy 

Act, legislation governing the Corporation since 
September 2005.  
 
Work on another major project, the review of the 
Corporation’s total 
compensation policy, 
began last year and 
involved different work 
processes for unionized 
and non-unionized 
employees. Significant 
adjustments were 
therefore made to the salary structure of non-
unionized employees this year.  These adjustments 
come on the heels of the comprehensive review of 
the job classification completed this year. Positions 
were classified in a manner to ensure that they 
correspond to pay equity criteria established by the 
Corporation according to an extensive internal 
evaluation, but also according to a study of 
comparable positions on the job market. This 
exercise led to the correction of inequities and, 
consequently, to readjustments in the level of 
compensation provided for certain types of non-
unionized positions. This re-adjustment affected 
close to 40% of the Corporation’s non-unionized 
employees.   
 
At the same time, the Human Resources team also 
worked on updating the guide for working conditions 
of non-unionized employees. This made it possible 
to list what the Corporation offers its employees and 
to examine employee requests in terms of working 
conditions, comparing them to what is actually 
available on the market. This is a crucial step that 
will guide management’s decisions in terms of 
working conditions.  
 
The review of the compensation policy for unionized 
employees continued this year. The joint committee 
carried out its mandate to support the development 
of a tool for assessing unionized positions. Given 
that the work completed to date has proven to be 
both productive and constructive, work should 
continue in 2007-2008.  
 
Also in the area of labour relations, a new labour 
agreement was signed with the unionized 
employees affiliated with the Public Service Alliance 
of Canada (local 10333) in May 2006. The four-year 
agreement was signed just a few days after the 
previous one expired and is very good for both 
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parties. Although this agreement was signed at the 
beginning of a new fiscal year, the contract with the 
other union representing Corporation employees, 
the projectionists union (IATSE), was renewed at 
the end of last year. Everything went very quickly. 
The parties reached an agreement in principle for a 
new five-year agreement one month after the 
contract expired. These two agreements will 
therefore ensure industrial peace for the next few 
years. 
 
Where human resources management is 
concerned, management thoroughly reviewed the 
Policy on managing and preventing harassment and 
discrimination in the workplace this year. Following 
this review, a committee was set up to handle 

complaints and to provide training 
to managers and employees.  
 
Occupational health and safety 
matters must also be examined by 
the internal committee set up to 
identify and describe problem 
situations. The work performed 
made it possible to substantially 

raise awareness and to consider the solutions to be 
implemented. All of the Corporation’s managers 
have received training on demonstrating due 
diligence for occupational health and safety issues. 
 
With its commitment to make its employees more 
aware of the Corporation’s business realities, senior 
management held two information meetings to 
present an assessment for the Corporation’s 
operations and its strategies. The two final meetings 
in connection with the Découvertes de la présidente 
program were also held. This completes the series 
of eight meetings, each one covering a time in the 
Old Port’s historic evolution.  Considering the 
program’s success and the positive impacts, 
managers are developing another formula to be 
implemented next year. 
 
The Corporation also has a new internal 
communications tool to promote better cohesion 
among its personnel. Specific channels are provided 
depending on the type and importance of the 
information being communicated.  
 
Work to continue implementing the computer 
resources master plan three years following its 
adoption, as well as the implementation of a Web-
based ticket service, are among the process 
improvements made during the year.  
 

Improving security remains a key concern for the IT 
department. Work continued to provide the 
Corporation with a backup site ensuring better 
protection of computer data. Various security 
analyses were also performed to test the security 
systems already in place.  The IT department made 
an important addition of a computerized 
development and testing environment. This tool will 
make a significant contribution to improving the 
efficiency of all system users and will facilitate the 
continuous updating of computer equipment by the 
department. Finally, the conditions for and issues 
associated with implementing a secured wireless 
network for the entire Old Port site were fully 
analyzed. A wireless network should gradually be 
implemented in the next few years.  
 
A Web-based transaction function has been added 
to the ticketing system implemented last year. In a 
competitive environment where more and more 
organizations are making it possible to carry out 
transactions on line, this service was a major issue 
for the Corporation.  
 
Where environmental practices are concerned, the 
department developed an internal policy 
accompanied by a procedures handbook for which 
each member of senior management received 
training.  This policy relates to practices under each 
department’s responsibility in terms of 
environmental matters and will be used as the basis 
for training personnel. Control measures have been 
incorporated into the process and regular audits will 
be carried out.   
 
The business continuity plan developed by the 
Corporation includes various aspects ensuring that 
operations can be maintained following a disaster, 
in particular, the computer resources backup plan 
finalized this past year and an overall security policy 
to be completed in the coming year. The continuity 
plan was revised this year after a one-year 
breaking-in period and the comments that were 
made. Each office of the vice-president now has its 
own business continuity plan setting out 
responsibilities, procedures and coordination 
methods to be put into place.  
 
Although the Corporation’s mandate is limited to 
managing and maintaining assets related to the vast 
site of the Old Port of Montréal, it must be 
recognized that these assets are deteriorating 
quickly and require urgent work to ensure their 
conservation and avoid safety risks for people and 
property. Given the Old Port’s heritage value, 
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measures will be taken to avoid the deterioration of 
our cultural heritage. This year, the Corporation’s 
management reviewed the asset maintenance plan 
in collaboration with PWGSC, the custodian of the 
assets. This made it possible to plan and prioritize 
the work required to address deterioration.   
 
The recent announcement by the federal 
government of a $35 million budget to be provided 
over five years for the conservation and 
maintenance of the assets under PWGSC’s 
authority paves the way for the eventual transfer of 
the custody of the assets to the Corporation.  
 

Ongoing Property Maintenance and 
Management  

In connection with its mandate to manage and 
maintain property and infrastructures, this year the 
Corporation carried out the necessary development 
work for the new marina managed by the Montréal 
Yacht Club. Repairs were also made to the lower 
portion of the Clock Tower Pier. The Corporation 
was unable to continue the development of plans 
and specifications for work planned by the city of 

Montréal, in particular, to finalize 
the granite access way to the 
Western Sector from de la 
Commune Street. The Corporation 
depends on the city for this project. 
Expenses are being shared 
equally and the City was unable to 
commit the amounts this year.   

 
Also in relation to studies, the office of the Vice-
president, Site Management received the 
conclusions of a pre-feasibility study to implement a 
public transit pilot project providing easier access to 
the Old Port from downtown Montréal. Ultimately, 
the Corporation’s management and partners did not 
consider the concept examined to be aesthetically 
and functionally feasible. A new concept combining 
transportation and development of de la Commune 
Street will be examined in the coming year and will 
take into account the city of Montréal’s transit plan 
to be unveiled in the spring of 2007.  
 
Where property management is concerned, the new 
preventive maintenance system implemented last 
year is providing results. Among other things, 
substantial energy savings have been achieved. For 
example, natural gas consumption was reduced, 
resulting in an expenditure reduction of close to 
40%.  

Customers are the Primary Concern  

The recognition received last year in the form of 
accreditation from the Bureau de normalisation du 
Québec (BNQ 9700-085) for excellent customer 
service was reaffirmed this year with the Démarche 

Qualité Tourisme seal. This seal created by 
Tourisme Québec is a testament to the quality 
service provided by the Corporation and its partners. 
As the first major tourist attraction to be awarded this 

honour, the Corporation contributes 
to maintaining and recognizing high 
quality standards. This new 
accreditation will be very visible at 
the Old Port site. Signs placed in 
various locations and the pins worn 
proudly by employees will remind 
visitors of the importance that the 

Corporation places on customer service.   
 
A customer focus is also affirmed in the products and 
services offered. The work done by the office of the 
Vice-president, Marketing enabled the two business 
units, the Quays of the Old Port and the Montréal 
Science Centre (MSC), to have a marketing plan for 
which phase one was implemented this year.  Where 
the Quays are concerned, a 
series of programming plans 
and a distinct marketing plan 
for parking facilities were 
developed this year in 
connection with the Quays 
marketing plan.  Implementing 
these plans makes it possible 
to get a much better understanding of supply and 
demand. The marketing intelligence that emerged 
ensures that the Corporation’s human, physical and 
financial resources are optimized. The action plans 
resulting from the marketing plans are completed 
annually with the conclusions of a longitudinal 
customer study carried out over a one-year period, 
alternating between Quays and MSC customers. The 
results of the first measures were made available this 
year. This makes it possible to have a better picture 
of the customer profile and buying behaviour and to 
assess whether the products and services offered 
are in keeping with the attributes of the corporate 
identity and the visitor’s experience.  
 
Where customer service is concerned, 
improvements were made to the Corporation’s Web 
site so that it reflects the new corporate images 
adopted. The technology must be completely re-
developed to adapt the site so that it more 
accurately reflects customer behaviour and that it 
incorporates the technology allowing for optimal 
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deployment made necessary, in particular, by the 
Web-based transaction function.  

Asserting the Corporation’s Leadership in the 
Recreational Tourism Industry  

The Corporation continues to assert itself as a 
leading player in areas affected by its endeavours. 
Its growing involvement in city affairs, either through 
its presence on boards of directors or various 
committees or in various other forms of action, now 
make it a driving force. As a partner for several 
projects and a recognized lever for development, 
the Corporation is solidly anchored in its community 
thereby enabling it to make its voice heard.  This 
year, the Corporation submitted two briefs 
defending its position. One brief submitted to the 
Office de consultation publique de Montréal 
confirmed the Corporation’s support for the new 
Université de Montréal mega-hospital (CHUM 2010) 
in the Ville-Marie burrough. The Corporation also 
submitted a brief to the standing committee of the 
Conseil d’agglomération sur le développement 
économique relating specifically to Montréal’s tourist 
industry. As a result of this action, the city of 
Montréal made a recommendation to support the 
Corporation’s 2005-2015 Vision Development. 

 
Promoting the Vision 

Development is always a 
part of the Corporation’s 
representation and business 
relations activities. Support 
for the Vision is becoming 

increasingly clear. This Vision constitutes a key lever 
for growth for Montréal players ensuring the 
development and renown of Montréal’s old historic 
district and its downtown quarter.  
 
The Corporation’s presence in the city was clearly 
seen this year. Flags were placed in different 
locations throughout the city celebrating the 
Corporation’s 25th anniversary. The Corporation’s 
management also worked hard this year,  in 
collaboration with Éditions de l’Homme, to develop 
an illustrated publication depicting the Old Port’s 
history and showcasing the individuals and events 
that have marked its evolution along the way. This 
publication is expected to be launched in the next 
fiscal year. 
 
The Corporation also distinguished itself this year by 
receiving several awards. The Quays of the Old Port 
were named the top Montréal tourist attraction by the 
prestigious Zagat Survey held in Montréal in 2006. 
They were also nominated for a regional Ulysse 

award from Tourisme Montréal for their customer 
service. The Montréal Science Centre was 
recognized as well: its work this past year was 
heralded by the Société des musées québécois and 
the Réseau Famille.  

Outlook for the Future  

The project and portfolio management structure will 
be put into operation in the coming fiscal year. No 
fewer than 100 projects are expected to be 
implemented. The comprehensive system evaluation 
will eventually be carried out to ensure its adequacy 
and its effectiveness and the relevance of the results 
provided.  Implementing such a system does not 
come without obstacles; resistance to change will be 
minimized by putting in place tools that will facilitate 
changes to work methods. 
 
The Corporation’s senior management will also 
soon be providing the Corporation with performance 
indicators adapted to its management needs as it 
extends this system’s operation. These performance 
indicators will cover all aspects of the Corporation, 
differentiating between strategic and operational 
activities. 
 
As part of the review of the compensation policy, the 
office of the Vice-president, Human Resources 
plans to complete the work that has begun to re-
adjust the compensation structure for unionized 
employees. Implementation recommendations will 
be made after this has been completed. 
 
Where labour relations are concerned, the 
application to review the scope of union 
accreditation remains active. Meetings will be held 
in the coming fiscal year to discuss this matter with 
the union representatives and the mediator already 
appointed by the Canadian Industrial Relations 
Board. 
 

Adjustments should be 
made to the development 
and adaptation of the 
Corporation’s organizational 
structures in the coming 
year to improve service in 
connection with managing 

by business unit.   
 
The results of the application of planning tools show 
that the action taken and the resulting impacts are 
appropriate. The marketing plans and other 
associated or resulting tools will continue to be 
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adjusted to ensure optimum efficiency for action 
taken.    
 
Following the recent announcement by the federal 
government ensuring the Corporation a recurring 
core budget of $18.8 million for 2007-2008, in 
addition to $35 million being provided to PWGSC 
over five years for asset conservation and 
maintenance, the Corporation would like the asset 
transfer that it is requesting to be made in the 2007-
2008 fiscal year. This transfer will make it possible to 
carry out the necessary work that has been 

postponed for too long to address the problem of 
aging—and in fact dilapidating—facilities.  
 
The 2005-2015 Vision Development will remain one 

of the Corporation’s key 
focal points. The 
Corporation will continue the 
action taken to adopt and 
implement the Vision for the 
fifth consecutive year.   
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Governance  

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
 
The Corporation’s Board of Directors included five members in 2006-2007, following the resignation of two of 
its directors in April and August respectively, namely Mr. Pierre Michaud and Mr. Jocelyn Proteau. All 
members, whose respective mandate had come to an end in preceding fiscal years, had nonetheless agreed 
to continue to assume their responsibilities until successors could be appointed by the Corporation’s 
shareholder, the Canada Lands Company Limited (CLCL). The Corporation’s Board of Directors therefore 
included the following directors for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2007: 
 
Chairman 
 

Mr. Bernard Lamarre Eng., M.Sc., F.I.C.I., O.C., O.Q. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Directors  
 

Mr. Vincent Arciresi 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ms. Hélène Béïque 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mr. Raymond Cyr 
Eng., O.C. 

 
 
 
 
 

Ms. Phyllis Lambert 
C.C., C.Q., O.A.L., 
F.I.R.A.Q. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Mr. Pierre Michaud, 
C.M. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mr. Jocelyn Proteau 
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The CLCL appointed a new Board of Directors with five members on April 16, 2007, not long after the 
Corporation’s 2006-2007 fiscal year came to an end. This new Board elected Mr. Bernard A. Roy as the 

Corporation’s Chairman of the Board. 
 
 

Chairman  
 
Bernard Roy, Q.C.  
 
Mr. Roy is a well-known Montréal lawyer who specializes in civil, commercial and 
administrative law. Currently Counsel at Ogilvy Renault, he has acted as an arbitrator 

and litigator before courts of provincial and federal jurisdiction and administrative 
tribunals. Mr. Roy has also served as lead Counsel to many federal and provincial 
commissions of inquiry, including the Gomery Commission. He was Principal Secretary 

to the Prime Minister of Canada from 1984 to 1988. Mr. Roy is a member of the Canadian Bar Association 
and the Bar of Quebec and sits on the boards of several public companies. 
 

Directors  
 
Hélène Desmarais  
 
Ms Desmarais is the founder and Chief Executive Officer of Centre d'entreprises et 
d'innovation de Montréal (CEIM), a business incubator dedicated to the startup and 

development of innovative technology enterprises in the fields of information, 
multimedia, industrial technologies, biotechnologies and new technologies in general. 
Since its foundation in 1996, CEIM has become the leading incubator in Québec and 

one of the largest in Canada. She has served in senior capacities in a number of community organizations in 
Montréal and is the first woman to serve as Chairman of the Board of HEC Montreal.  
 

Patrick Kenniff 
 
Mr. Kenniff is a partner in the Montréal-based management consulting firm Kenniff & 

Racine, which specializes in executive recruitment. A former rector of Concordia 
University, he also served as Québec's Deputy Minister of Municipal Affairs from 1979 to 
1984. In 1992, he chaired the organization responsible for the 350th Anniversary 

celebration of Montréal and, in 2001, he was vice-chair of the Transition Committee 
which implemented the municipal structure for the new City of Montréal. Mr. Kenniff is active in the 
community and currently serves on the boards of the Grace Dart Extended Care Centre, Les Amis de la 

Montagne, the Can Serve Foundation and the Foundation of the Nature Museums of Montréal. 
. 
 

Tasha Kheiriddin 
 
An author, lawyer and television personality, Ms Kheiriddin is currently a lecturer at 

McGill University, and, until recently, served as Executive Vice President of the Montréal 
Economic Institute, a non-partisan, privately funded think-tank that promotes free-market 
solutions to social problems. Ms Kheiriddin currently serves as a member of the 

Advisory Committee in Judicial Appointments to the Tax Court of Canada and is a 
member of the Civitas Society and the University Club of Montréal.  
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Claude Thibault CA. CF, CBV, MBA 
 
Mr. Thibault is Vice-President, Finance, and Chief Financial Officer of NuEra International 
Inc., a holding company of private investment owning three manufacturing and distribution 

business unit in the USA and Canada. Over the past ten years, he has been the CFO of a 
number of public and private companies, including most recently Mediagrif Interactive 
Technologies Inc., a TSX-listed corporation, and PTT Poly Canada, a Shell joint venture. 

Mr. Thibault had previously gained significant investment banking and corporate finance experience while at 
Merrill Lynch Canada and KPMG. He is a chartered accountant, a chartered business evaluator and he 
holds an MBA from McGill University. He is a member of the Institute of Corporate Directors. 
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GOVERNANCE  
 
The Board of Directors (the Board) is responsible for 
managing the Corporation. The Corporation reports 
to Parliament via the Honourable Lawrence Cannon, 
Minister of  Transport, Infrastructure and 
Communities.  
 
During 2006-2007, with the support of the audit and 
human resources committees, the Board assumed 
the strategic direction of the Corporation, oversaw 
the management of its activities and its internal 
affairs, and ensured that appropriate risk 
management systems were implemented. It also 
ensured that information systems and management 
practices met the Corporation’s needs and 
guaranteed the integrity of the information produced.  
In particular, the Board ensured that the 
Corporation’s activities are managed in accordance 
with its mandate, as defined in the agreement signed 
with the Crown on January 25, 1982 and in 
accordance with the applicable provisions of the 
Financial Administration Act.  
 
The Board met on 10 occasions in 2006-2007 and 
83% of these meetings were attended by its 
members. Some of the strategic issues examined 
include the project to develop public transit service 
for Montréal’s historic district and the Old Port site in 
collaboration with the Société des transports de 
Montréal, the approval of the strategic objectives and 
initiatives in the 2007-2008 to 2011-2012 Corporate 
Plan and the follow-up with the federal authorities 
concerned for the Corporation’s vision and its 2005-
2015 Development Plan submitted to the minister 
responsible for the Corporation last year.   
 
Where the oversight of the Corporation’s 
management activities is concerned, the Board 
examined the budget situation, the monthly 
statements of earnings and the various reports on 
the planning and holding of activities, requests for 
contract awards and the monitoring of environmental 
management activities. During the course of each of 
their meetings, the Board members had an 
opportunity to hold discussions with management 
and various external consultants, as necessary.  
 

Audit Committee  

The Audit Committee met on four occasions during 
2006-2007 and 83% of these meetings were 
attended by members. In particular, the Audit 
Committee chaired by Mr. Raymond Cyr examined 
the Corporation’s audited annual financial statements 

and the 2007-2008 budgets included in the 2007-
2008 to 2011-2012 Corporate Plan, followed up on 
implementation of the recommendations of external 
auditors report and the 2005-2006 annual internal 
audit report, and the final report from the special 
examination performed by the Office of the Auditor 
General of Canada in 2004. The Committee also 
examined the auditor’s annual audit plan for 2006-
2007 and followed up on internal audit work for 2006-
2007 and environmental management issues. It 
advised the Board of Directors following these follow-
ups and reviews.  

Human Resources Committee 

The Human Resources Committee met on five 
occasions during 2006-2007 and 88% of meetings 
were attended by members. This committee, which is 
chaired by Mr. Raymond Cyr, followed up on the 
work to review the process for assessing the 
positions of non-unionized employees, filling the 
position of Vice-president, Finance and 
Administration, and monitoring work to renew the 
collective agreement expiring on March 31, 2006.  It 
examined the recommendations for reviewing the 
salary and non-monetary conditions of non-unionized 
employees for 2007-2008, senior management’s 
performance assessments as well as 
recommendations regarding executive 
compensation. It advised the Board of Directors 
subsequent to these follow-ups and reviews.  
 

 
RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
Managing a corporation such as the Old Port of 
Montréal Corporation involves certain risks that the 
management team and Board of Directors must 

identify, analyze, minimize and eliminate.  
 

In addition to carrying out internal audit activities to 

confirm practices and make the necessary 
improvements to the policies and procedures in 
place, the Corporation focusses on strategic 

planning and developing its Corporate Plan to guide 
and control its action and to organize its reporting to 
Parliament.  

 
This is added to the integrated work program to 

satisfy the recommendations following the annual 

audit and the special examination performed by the 
Office of the Auditor General (OAG). 
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Training is certainly one of the most effective 
preventive measures. Developed specifically to 

address various situations that may result in risks 
for the Corporation, training is a major asset to deal 
with the situations and minimize their impacts. The 

Corporation strives to identify risk situations and to 
understand the mechanisms so that appropriate 
action can be taken, including personnel training.  

This year, managers and employees received 
training in various areas to reduce internal risks, as 
is discussed below.   

Internal Risks  

In keeping with the OAG’s recommendations, the 
Corporation has made a major change this year 

which marks a major shift for its management 
practices. It has put in place a project and portfolio 
management structure for all corporate and capital 

projects, for which a five-step process must now be 
followed. The process ensures that the various 
aspects of the projects, in addition to the risks and 

resulting impacts, will be taken into account. Some 
of the measures included in the system include 
progress reports and approval for each phase of a 

project by the Corporation’s Executive Committee. 
The system will allow for strict project follow-ups 
and management. All of the Corporation’s managers 

have received specific training to ensure that they 
incorporate this new system into their management 
practices.  

 
Asset conservation and maintenance represent the 
greatest risks for the Corporation. With its various 

systems and practices in place, the Corporation 
ensures the maintenance of its equipment, facilities 
and infrastructures to allow for its operations. In so 

doing, it prevents a minimal amount of asset 
deterioration. The preventive maintenance system 
implemented in the last fiscal year and the 

Corporation’s commitment to ensure environmental 
protection are among the action taken by the 
Corporation in this area. In connection with its 

environmental commitment, the Corporation 
implemented an environmental management 
system whose applications are revised regularly and 

for which employees have received training. This 
ensures the necessary vigilance to be able to take 
prompt action should a problem arise.  

 
PWGSC, the custodian of the assets, regularly 
updates the Building Condition Report (BCR) in 

collaboration with the Corporation, which enables it 
to list the work that is required and have it carried 

out with the funds that are available.    
 
Personal, property and information security is 

another area where the Corporation faces 
significant risks. Encouraged by the Bureau de 
normalisation du Québec’ accreditation process in 

the last fiscal year, the Corporation developed an 
overall security policy that it is finalizing and for 
which training has been developed and provided to 

employees. This policy pinpoints security and risk 
management measures to safeguard all of the 
Corporation’s human, physical, financial and 

computer resources. Security is also a key concern 
for the Corporation’s IT department. Various 
security analyses are carried out regularly to test the 

security systems already in place. The 
implementation of a document and archive 
management system is another risk management 

measure. This system will make it possible to 
process, retrieve and use information better. The 
staff concerned has received training to ensure that 

practices are changed and that the system is 
optimized.  
 

Where security is concerned, it should also be 
pointed out that the office of the Vice-president, 
Human Resources put in place an internal 

committee that examined occupational health and 
safety problems. This committee’s work raised 
managers’ awareness of these issues and enabled 

them to consider the solutions to be put in place. All 
managers have received training on due diligence 
for occupational health and safety issues.  

 
In addition to this, the Corporation has a business 
continuity plan that includes a number of procedures 

to ensure that operations continue in the wake of a 
disaster. This plan, which is adapted to each office 
of the vice-president, is revised annually. 

External Risks  

The Corporation’s revenues hinge upon attendance 
numbers at the site related to the attractiveness of 

its products and services provided year round. The 
number of visitors depends on situations that are 
often beyond the Corporation’s control, such as the 

weather, oil prices, international security issues and 
labour conflicts in the recreational and tourism 
sector. To deal with these risks, the Corporation 
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operates prudently and shows versatility and 
flexibility in managing its advertising investments. 

Also, based on its experience which has provided it 
with a reliable record of its organizational 
performance, it has scenarios and models to 

simulate impacts and draft the appropriate 
measures to be put in place. Performance indicators 
are also tools to quickly detect and deal with risks. 

The Corporation is developing new performance 
indicators to optimize risk management. This work is 
furthered by the performance analysis and the 

measures put in place by institutions comparable to 
the Old Port of Montréal Corporation.  

 
Finally, over the years the Corporation has reviewed 
and adjusted its partnership agreements and pricing 

strategies to deal with the loss of suppliers, 
concession holders and event producers and to 
adapt to changing situations and to react quickly to 

unforeseen events.  
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The Organization 

 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
 

 
Claude Benoit, M.C. 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Pierre Fortin 
Vice-president, Marketing  

 
 
 
 
 

Denis Gouge, Eng. 
Vice-president, Site Management  

 
 

 

 
 

André Jean Lauzon 
Vice-president, Quays of the Old Port 

 
 
 
 
 

Benoît Légaré 
Vice-president, Montréal Science Centre  

 
 
 

 

 

Luc Nadeau 
Vice-president, Human Resources 

 
 
 
 
 

Richard Tardif, C.A., C.M.A. 
Vice-president, Finance and Administration 
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HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT  
 
The Old Port of Montréal’s organizational structure 
is based on two primary business units—the Quays 
of the Old Port and the Montréal Science Centre. 
The work of these two business units is supported 
by corporate services (offices of the vice-presidents 
of human resources, marketing, site management 

and finance and administration). 
 
The Corporation has more than 
300 employees each year and 
half of these individuals are full-
time permanent employees. The 
other half of its work force 
includes temporary, occasional 
and seasonal employees, who are 

mainly hired for the summer, when the Corporation 
holds more activities on its site.  The number of 
seasonal employees generally triples during the 
summer months. Most seasonal employees are full-
time students.  It should be pointed out that the 
Corporation needs additional personnel as a result 
of the Body Worlds 2 exhibition being presented in 
the spring of 2007 and the extra activities related to 
the Cirque du Soleil’s new show. These needs are 
felt in terms of recruiting new employees in the 
current fiscal year and the number of new seasonal 
employees is expected to double.  
 
Approximately 65% of the Corporation’s employees 
are unionized. This proportion has remained 
constant in recent years. Employees are relatively 
young; the average age for all employees was 36 in 
2006-2007. Given the Corporation’s wide range of 
responsibilities and the activities that it carries out, it 
requires various types of expertise. Profiles are 
extremely varied, from museology technicians to 
maintenance employees, from accounting analysts 
to Webmasters, from logistical officers to educators.  
 
The Corporation seeks to offer competitive and fair 
compensation and working conditions. Every 
employee plays a role in achieving the Corporation’s 
objectives and management makes it its duty to 
keep its personnel abreast of the Corporation’s 
business and to ensure that employees enjoy a 

healthy, stimulating and safe working environment. 
To show its commitment in this area, the 
Corporation now has a series of policies, including a 
Total Compensation Policy, but also a Training and 

Development Program which is aimed at achieving 
the Corporation’s strategic and operating objectives 
while making requests for training and development 
a priority.  Similarly, a Bursaries program was put in 
place this year. It is aimed at encouraging its 
student personnel to continue to further their studies 
and increases employees’ feeling of belonging. The 
Corporation also has a Policy on managing and 
preventing harassment and discrimination in the 
workplace in addition to occupational health and 
safety measures.  
 
The Corporation recognizes the 
work done by its employees. 
Each year, it celebrates 
employment anniversaries by 
organizing a special celebration 
for employees with 5, 10, 15 and 
20 years of service. Social 
activities are important. In addition to providing an 
opportunity to thank employees, the people who 
have made the Corporation what it is today, they 
help ensure internal cohesion and develop a feeling 
of belonging.  A record number of employees 
attended the Corporation’s Christmas party this past 
year, which was also an opportunity to celebrate the 
Corporation’s 25th anniversary. Some 300 
employees came to celebrate. In addition to its 
Christmas party, the Corporation also holds a 
summer country festival under the theme of a 
different country representing the country of origin of 
some employees.  This celebration, which is greatly 
appreciated, was very successful this year.  
 
Employee participation is also apparent in 
community action. Once again this year, the 
Workplace Charity Campaign exceeded objectives. 
In addition, the Corporation was awarded a bronze 
certificate by the government authorities in charge 
of this campaign to highlight the exemplary 
participation of the Corporation’s employees in this 
endeavour.    
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Financial Resources 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
The following section should be read in conjunction with the Corporation’s audited financial statements for 
the year ended March 31, 2007 and the related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. 
   

 
Financing (in thousands of dollars) 
 

Variance between results and budget 
Results  

2005-2006 
 

Results 
2006-2007 

Budget 
2006-2007 

$ %  

Parliamentary 

appropriations and 
contributions 

15,199 15,200 1 0.1  16,231 

 
The Corporation is presenting a balanced budget for 2006-2007, with a $1 K (0.01%) surplus. The used 
parliamentary appropriations amounted to $15.199 million, representing a decrease of $1.032 million (6.4%) 
compared to 2005-2006. The parliamentary appropriations for the 2006-2007 budget totalled $15.200 million 
and covered both operating and capital expenditures. 
 

Statements of Earnings (in thousands of dollars)  
 

Variance between results and budget  Results  
2006-2007 

Budget 
2006-2007 $ % 

Results 
2005-2006 

Operating revenues  13,747  11,789  1,958  16.6  12,238 

Amortization of deferred 
contributions 

 242  197  45  22.8  259 

      Total revenues  13,989  11,986  2,003  16.7  12,497 

     Operating expenditures 

(before amortization) 
 27,388  25,489  - 1,899  - 7.5  25,956 

      Amortization of property, 
plant and equipment 

 2,695  1,063              -1,632  - 153.5  2,567 

Total expenditures  30,083  26,552  - 3,531  - 13.3  28,523 

       
The operating deficit (before amortization) amounts to $13.641 million compared to $13.718 million in 2005-
2006, a decrease of $77,000 (0.6%). This decrease is attributable to a 12.3% rise in operating revenues 
whereas expenditures before amortization rose by only 5.5%.  
 
The operating deficit is $59,000 lower than the $13.700 million budgeted. This result is attributable to a 
16.6% favourable variance for revenues and an increase of only 7.5% in operating expenditures.  
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Revenues (in thousands of dollars) 
 

Variance between results and budget  Results 
2006-2007 

Budget 
2006-2007 $ % 

Results 
2005-2006 

Science Centre   8,424  6,878 1,546  22.5  6,882 

Quays  5,347  5,016    331            6.6  5,383 

      Corporate services   218  136      82          60.3  232 

            

TOTAL REVENUES  13,989  12,030 1,959          16.3  12,497 

 

 

Self-generated revenues related to the Corporation’s products in 2006-2007 amount to $13.989 million 
compared to $12.497 million in 2005-2006, an11.9% increase corresponding to $1,492,000. This increase is 
mainly attributable to the outstanding performance of the IMAX®TELUS Theatre.   
 

Self-generated revenues of $12.030 million were budgeted in the 2006-2007 Corporate Plan, whereas 
results for 2006-2007 total $13.989 million, up 16.3% or $1,959,000. The principal variances compared to 
budgeted amounts pertain to the IMAX®TELUS Theatre ($1.164 million), parking revenues ($0.497 million) 
and corporate rentals ($0.262 million).   
 
 
 

Revenues (%) in 2006-2007

2%

38%

60%

Science Centre

Quays

Corporate Services

Revenues (%) in 2005-2006

55%
43%

2%

Science Centre
Quays
Corporate Services
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Programming revenues, which 
include revenues from the 
IMAX®TELUS Theatre and 

exhibitions, totalled $5.090 million 
in 2006-2007 compared to $3.735 
million in 2005-2006. This result 

represents an increase of 
$1,355,000 (36.3%). Revenues 
from the IMAX®TELUS Theatre 

rose $1,053,000 (42%). Exhibition 
revenues increased by $179,000 
(19.6%) compared to 2005-2006, 

a year that was marked by the 
boycott of cultural outings by 
Québec teachers. Parking 

revenues rose $89,000 (5.4%) 
despite the fact that the Cirque du 
Soleil did not hold any shows on 

the site. This result was due to the number of visitors to the IMAX®TELUS Theatre. 
  
Where concessions and corporate rentals are concerned, revenues increased by $186,000 (21.8%), 
primarily for rentals for corporate events. The $71,000 decrease in sponsorships and donations is 
attributable to lower amounts received for educational projects.  
 
Quays  
 

 

Parking revenues declined by 
$107,000 (5.4%) due to the lack 
of a major event such as a 
Cirque du Soleil show in 2005-
2006. These results were offset 
in part by the Feux sur glace 

TELUS.  
 

Revenues from sponsorships 
and donations increased by 
$58,000 (4.7%). Revenues from 
events and concessions rose 
by $15,000 (1.3%). 
Programming revenues 
declined by $123,000 (13.5%) 
due in large part to the fact that 
the Cirque du Soleil did not hold 
any shows on the site in 2006-
2007. 
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Expenditures (in thousands of dollars) 
 

 Variance between results 
and budget 

 

Results 
2006-2007 

Budget 
2006-2007 

$ % 

Results  
2005-2006 

      

Science Centre   10,909  10,542  - 367  - 3.5  10,856 

      

Quays  9,609  8,282  - 1,327  - 16.0  8 ,492 

      

Corporate Services   6,870  6,665  -205  - 3.1  6,608 

      

Total operating expenditures (before 
amortization) 

 27,388  25,489  - 1,899  - 7.5  25,956 

      

Amortization of property, plant and 
equipment  

 2,695  1,063  - 1,632  - 153.5   2,567 

      

TOTAL EXPENDITURES   30,083  26,552  - 3,531  - 13.3  28, 523 

 

Total operating expenditures (before amortization) for 2006-2007 increased by $1.432 million (5.5%) 
compared to 2005-2006. Operating expenditures also rose by $1.899 million (7.5%) compared to the amount 
budgeted for 2006-2007.  
 

Science Centre  
 

Expenditures relating to the Science Centre amounted to $10.909 million, an increase of $53,000 (0.5%) 
compared to 2005-2006. The variations relate primarily to lower advertising costs (down $326,000 or 
23.6%), coupled with higher IMAX® film rental costs (up $112,000 or 16.2%), which was largely offset by 
higher revenues for the IMAX®TELUS Theatre. In addition, the $367,000 (3.5%) increase compared to the 
amount budgeted for 2006-2007 is attributable to these rental costs.  

 

Quays 
 

Expenditures relating to the Quays total $9.609 million in 2006-2007, an increase of $1,117,000 (13.2%) 
compared to 2005-2006. This increase is mainly attributable to events added for the site to attract more visitors 
year round and the relating advertising. Our participation in the Montreal High lights Festival (increase of 
$65,000), various animation contracts (increase of $87,000), higher advertising costs (up $284,000) and the 
impact of the creation of the office of the Vice-president, Quays in September 2005 (addition of $110,000) 
explain this increase.  

 

Corporate Services  
 

Expenditures relating to corporate services total $6.870 million in 2006-2007, an increase of $262,000 
compared to 2005-2006. This increase is essentially attributable to a provision to cover the impact of the 

new job assessment systems implemented and the cost of changing employees’ uniforms in keeping with 
the Corporation’s new colours and logos.   
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Expenditure Analysis by Major Class: 
 

Variance between results and 
budget  

Results  
2006-2007 

Budget 
2006-2007 

$ % 

Results  
2005-2006 

 (in thousands of dollars) 

Salaries and employee benefits   13,720  13,675  - 45  - 0.3   13,270 

Advertising   2,872  2,737  - 135  - 4.9   2,973 

Maintenance   2,872  2,081  - 791  - 38.0   2,375 

Amortization   2,695  1,063  - 1,632  - 153.5   2,567 

Taxes, permits, rents and utilities   2,167  2,318  151  6.5   2,142 

Movie rentals   912  700  - 212  - 30.3  750 

Professional services   894  869  - 25  -2.9  1,079 

Office expenses    690  476  - 214  - 44.9  425 

Exhibitions   385  398  13  3.3  417 

Animation contracts   364  156  - 208  - 133.3  277 

Insurance   253  287  34  11.8  268 

Travel and entertainment costs   247  333  86  25.8  246 

Telecommunications  239  239  -  -  271 

Software maintenance   149  176  27  15.3  122 

Other   1,624  1,044  - 580  - 55.6  1,341 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES   30,083  26,552  - 3,531  - 13.3  28,523 

 
Compared to 2005-2006, the analysis of the major expenditure categories for the current year reveals the 
following:  
 

 

 

 

� Salaries and benefits rose by $450,000 (3.4%) in 2006-2007. Some of the main 
reasons for this rise are the automatic increase of 3.0% received by unionized 
employees and the impact of the creation of the office of the Vice-president, Quays of 
the Old Port.   

 
 

� Advertising expenditures (excluding salaries) totalled $2.872 million in 2006-2007, 
down $101,000. This is equivalent to 20.5% of total revenues, compared to 23.8% in 
2005-2006.  

 

 

� Site maintenance and the maintenance of facilities represent a significant 
expense for the Corporation. Due to the size of the site and the age of certain assets, 
rigorous maintenance work is required, which explains this increase of expense.    

 

 

 

� Taxes, permits, rents and utilities increased by $25,000 (1.2%), due mainly to the 
rent increase for the Alexandra Pier. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

% of expenditures 
(before amortization) 

50.1% 

10.5% 

10.5% 

7.9% 
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� Movie rentals include the cost of movies shown at the IMAX®TELUS Theatre and as 
part of the movie game. The substantial increase in costs (21.6%) is largely offset by 
higher revenues (up 41.9%). 
 

 

 

� Professional services decreased by $185,000 (17.2%) mainly due to the cost of 
developing the 2005-2015 Vision Development recorded last year.  

 

 
 

 
� Office expenses include stationery, postage and uniforms. The increase is mainly 

attributable to the renewal of employees’ uniforms in keeping with the Corporation’s 
new colours and logos.   

 

 

 

�  Exhibitions represented an expense of $385,000, down $32,000 (7.7%) 
compared to the previous fiscal year.  

 
 
 
 
 

� Animation contracts totalled $364,000 up $87,000 (31.4%) due to the increased 
number of winter activities.   

 
 
 
 
 

� Insurance costs totalled $253,000 compared to $268,000 in 2005-2006. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

� Travel and entertainment expenses amounted to $247,000, which is similar to these 
expenses incurred in 2005-2006 

 

 

 

� Telecommunications expenses totalled $239,000, a decrease of $32,000 (11.8%). 
 
 
 
 

� Software maintenance costs totalled $149,000 compared to $122,000 in 2005-2006.   
 

 

 

�  “Other” expenses totalled $1,624,000 and include many components, such as a 
provision for the impact of implementing new job assessment systems, research and 
development costs and taking part in the Montreal High lights Festival.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3% 

2.5% 

1.4% 

0.9% 

6.0% 

0.9% 

1.3% 

0.9% 

0.5% 

3.3% 
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Balance Sheet (in thousands of dollars)  
 

 31-03-2007 31-03-2006 

Total assets   23,152  21,373 

Total liabilities   22,792  20,749 

Shareholder’s equity        360    624 

  

Total assets as at March 31, 2007 amount to $23.152 million compared to $21.373 million at the end of the 
last fiscal year, an increase of $1.779 million (8.3%).  
 

Assets 
 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash total $5.145 million compared to $3.808 million in 2005-2006. 
Accounts receivable increased by $639,000 (84.3%) in comparison with amounts as at March 31, 2006.  The 
bad debt allowance totals $40,000.  
 

Liabilities  
 
The total amount of accounts payable and accrued liabilities (excluding the repayable contribution) increased 
from $4.617 million in 2005-2006 to $5.819 million in 2006-2007. The repayable contribution totals $1,000 for 
2006-2007. 

 

Capital Expenditures (in thousands of dollars) 
 
 

Variance between results and 

budget  Capital expenditures  
Actual  

2006-2007 

Budget 

2006-2007 
$ % 

Actual  

2005-2006 

      

Property, plant and equipment  2,613 1,525 - 1088 - 71.3 3,366 

 
Capital expenditures totalled $2.613 million in 2006-2007 compared to $3.366 million in 2005-2006 and 
compared to the budgeted amount of $1.525 million included in the Corporate Plan. Disbursements in 2006-
2007 include capital expenditures for the renewal of the MSC’s permanent exhibitions in 2007, representing a 
total amount of $1,055,000. This amount is financed through donations made by the Montréal Science Centre 
Foundation. Excluding this item, expenditures comparable to the budgeted amount for 2006-2007, totalling 
$1.558 million, were recorded, which is $33,000 more than the budget. The fund-raising campaign organized 
by the Montréal Science Centre Foundation to fund the renewal of the MSC’s permanent exhibitions brought in 
the necessary funds to renew the MSC’s permanent exhibitions in 2007, whose estimated cost is $6.300 
million. Thus, thanks to the Montréal Science Centre Foundation, the Corporation now has assurances that all 
of the expenditures to be incurred to renew the MSC’s exhibitions in 2007 will be covered.   
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The following projects represented capital expenditures in excess of $50,000 in 2006-2007:  

� Developing infrastructures for the Montréal Yacht Club marina  $285,000 
� Heating, ventilation and air conditioning unit       $96,000 

� Relocating maritime concession holder      $90,000 
� Temporary exhibition  – “Forests”        $86,000 
� Renewal of computer inventory       $83,000 

� Centralized audit system         $67,000 
� Permanent Web site for the Quays       $63,000 
� Technical programming equipment       $53,000 

     TOTAL           $823,000 

 

Finally, 12 other projects represented expenditures in excess of $25,000 during the year, which 
corresponded to a total amount of $446,000. The considerable variety of the Corporation’s commercial and 
cultural activities, the size of its site, and the fact that its buildings and equipment are aging explain the 
Corporation’s considerable action in the form of specific investments on the site.    

 

 

Five-year Summary (in thousands of dollars)  
 

Results   Budget  

2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006 2004-2005 2003-2004 2002-2003 
       

Statement of earnings  
 Revenues       

Science Centre ($)    6,878     8,424   6,882   6,537   8,379   8,972 

 %  57.2%  60.2%  55.1%  55.8%  60.1%  64.6% 

Quays ($)    5,016       5,347   5,383       4,975   5,120   4,710 

 %  41.7%  38.2%  43.1%  42.5%  36.7%  33.9% 

Corporate services ($)       136      218      232      196      446      197 

 %     1.1%    1.6%    1.8%     1.7%    3.2%    1.5% 

Total operating revenues      12,030 13,989     12,497 11,708     13,945     13,879 
       

 Expenditures        

Operating expenditures      25,489  27,388     25,956  24,862 24,804  24,071 

Salaries and benefits  13,675  13,720 13,270  12,313 11,197 11,035 
Salaries and benefits to operating 
expenditures   53.7%   50.1%  51.1%   49.5%  45.1%  45.8% 

Amortization        1,063    2,695   2,567     2,636   3,894   4,468 

       
 Operating Deficit   

          (before amortization) 
    13,700  13,641     13,718     13,375     13,616 13,196 

       

Financing  
Parliamentary appropriations and 

contributions 
15,200  15,199  16,231   15,775 18,018 17,955 
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Results   Budget  
2006-2007 2006-2007 2005-2006 2004-2005 2003-2004 2002-2003 

Balance sheet  
 Assets       

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted 
cash 

        47   5,145   3,808   3,329   4,091   4,747 

Accounts receivable     1,000   1,397      758      652     1,063   1,783 

Prepaid expenses       600      364      479      408      269      437 

Property, plant and equipment  15,044 16,246 16,328 15,529 15,316 14,560 

 Liabilities        

Accounts payable    2,500   5,819   4,617   4,227   4,629   5,137 

Parliamentary appropriations repayable  -            1          94      325      826      445 

Deferred contributions   1,197   4,055   2,490   1,399   1,301   2,825 

Loan  - - - - -   2,404 
Deferred property, plant and equipment 
financing  

12,173 12,917 13,548 13,076 12,825 10,003 

 

 
 

Key operating statistics  2006-2007 2005-2006 2004-2005 2003-2004 2002-2003 
Operating revenues to operating expenditures 
(excluding amortization) 

    50%  47%  46%   45% 45% 

Number of visitors to the Old Port of Montréal (in 
thousands)  

 5,328  5,533  5,652  7,456  7,079 
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY REGARDING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
The Corporation’s management is responsible for 
preparing the financial statements in the annual 

report. These have been prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles in 
Canada and necessarily contain estimates made 

by Management to the best of its judgment and 
for which Management is responsible. 
Management acknowledges its responsibility for 

choosing accounting principles and methods that 
are compatible with the Corporation’s 
circumstances. Financial information presented 

elsewhere in the annual report is consistent with 
that of the financial statements. Management 
applies internal controls, accounting principles 

and practices to ensure with a reasonable degree 
of certainty that financial information is relevant 
and reliable, that the assets it manages are 

safeguarded, and that corporate transactions 
have been in compliance with the appropriate 
authorizations. The Board of Directors is 

responsible for examining and approving the 
financial statements and for overseeing how 
Management discharges its responsibility for the 

presentation of financial information. 
 
The Board exercises this responsibility primarily 

through the Audit Committee, which is composed 
exclusively of Directors who are neither part of 
Management nor employed by the Corporation. 

This Committee examines the financial 
statements with Management and 
representatives of the Office of the Auditor 

General of Canada, who is appointed as external 
auditor by the shareholder, before submitting 
them to the Board for approval. This Committee 

also examines the work plans submitted by the 
internal and external auditors and meets with 
them in order to discuss their findings and 

observations regarding accounting issues, audit 
procedures and the presentation of financial 
information. The Auditor General of Canada is 

responsible for auditing the transactions and the 
financial statements of the Corporation and for 

reporting on these financial statements. 
Management considers that the financial 
statements faithfully present the financial position 

of the Corporation, the results of its operations, 
and its cash flows. The Board of Directors has 
studied and approved the financial statements 

following a recommendation from the Audit 
Committee. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Claude Benoit, M.C. 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Richard Tardif, C.A., C.M.A. 
Vice-president, Finance and Administration 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Montréal, 
June 1, 2007 
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OLD PORT OF MONTRÉAL CORPORATION INC. 
 
Statement of Operations and Retained Earnings  
For the year ended March 31  
 
        2007 2006   

Revenues        (in thousands of dollars)  

       

Quays (Note 7) 5,347 5,383  

       

Science Centre (Note 8) 8,424 6,882  

       

Corporate services (note 9) 218 232  
            

        
13,989 12,497 

  

       
Operating expenditures (Note 10)     

       

Quays (note 7) 9,609 8,492  
 

      

Science Centre (Note 8) 10,909 10,856  
 

      

Corporate services (Note 9) 6,870 6,608  

    

Amortization of property, plant and equipment  2,695 2,567  
    

      
  

        
30,083 28,523 

  

       

Excess of operating expenditures over revenues  (16,094) (16,026)  

       

Contributions – Operating expenditures (Note 18)  - 13,718  

Parliamentary appropriations– Operating expenditures 
(Note 18)  13,641 -  

Amortization of deferred property, plant and equipment 
financing (Note 5) 2,189 2,041  

     

Net operating results  (264) (267)   
       

Retained earnings, beginning of year 624 891  

Retained earnings, end of year 360 624   

 
The notes are an integral part of the financial statements.  
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OLD PORT OF MONTRÉAL CORPORATION INC. 
 
 

Statement of Cash Flows  
For the year ended March 31  
 
        

2007 2006  

    
     (in thousands of dollars) 

 

Operating activities   
   

Net operating results    (264) (267) 
 

Non-cash items:    
 

Amortization of property, plant and 
equipment  2,695                           2,567 

 

Amortization of deferred property, plant and   
equipment financing (2,189) (2,041) 

 

Amortization of deferred contributions  (242) (259) 
 

Sponsorships and donations recognized as revenue  (209) (269) 
 

Changes in non-cash assets and liabilities  585 (18) 
 

Cash flows from operating activities     376 (287) 
  

    
  

 

Financing activities     
 

Financing received for the Montréal Science Centre  2,016                           1,619 
 

Parliamentary appropriations and contributions for the 
acquisition of property, plant and equipment  1,558                           2,513 

 

Cash flows from financing activities     3,574                           4,132 
  

    
  

 

Investing activities     
 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (2,613) (3,366) 
 

Increase in restricted cash  (784) (505) 
 

Cash flows from investing activities     (3,397) (3,871) 
  

   
                             

 

Change in cash and cash equivalents during the year  553                                (26) 
 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  3,303                           3,329 
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year     3,856                           3,303 
  

   
  

 

Represented by:   

 

Cash  856                                303 
 

Certificate, 3.77%, maturing on December 21, 2007, 
redeemable at any time (2006: 3.35%) 3,000                          3,000 

 

       3,856                          3,303 
  

 
 
The notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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OLD PORT OF MONTRÉAL CORPORATION INC. 

 

Notes to Financial Statements as at March 31, 2007 
 

1. Authority and activities 
 

The Old Port of Montreal Corporation Inc. was incorporated on November 26, 1981 under the 
Canada Business Corporations Act and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Canada Lands Company 
Limited, a Crown corporation named in Part I of Schedule III of the Financial Administration 
Act. In accordance with Order in Council P.C. 1987-86, the Old Port of Montreal Corporation 
Inc. is subject to certain provisions of the Financial Administration Act as if it were a parent 
Crown corporation, agent of the Crown, listed in Part I of Schedule III of the Financial 
Administration Act. 
 
Since February 1, 1982, pursuant to an agreement between the Corporation and Her Majesty 
in Right of Canada represented by the Minister of Public Works and Government Services, the 
Corporation has been responsible for developing and promoting the development of the lands 
of the Old Port of Montreal, and for administering, managing and maintaining the properties 
of Her Majesty located thereon.  
 
 

2. Significant accounting policies  
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles. Significant accounting policies are described below. 
 
a) Property, plant and equipment  
 
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at their original cost and are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, starting on the date they are put into 
service, as follows: 

 
Buildings 25 years 
Computer hardware and software 3 years 
Exhibitions According to the duration of the exhibition 
Machinery, tooling and equipment 10 years 
Automotive equipment 5 years 
Office furniture and equipment 7 years 
 
 

Leasehold improvements represent major work to buildings, infrastructures and land 
development. They are capitalized and amortized over the remaining life of the lease for 
rental space or over a 15- to 25-year period for assets owned by Public Works and Government 
Services Canada.  
 
b) Deferred contributions  

 
The Corporation follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions, which are mainly 
in the form of donations. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when they are 
received or receivable provided that collection is reasonably assured. Externally restricted 
contributions are deferred and recognized as revenue during the year in which the underlying 
expenses are incurred. Contributions restricted for the acquisitions of amortizable capital 
assets are amortized over the useful lives of the capital assets acquired. 
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OLD PORT OF MONTRÉAL CORPORATION INC. 
 
c) Revenues 
 
Quays, Montréal Science Centre (MSC) and Corporate services 
   

Revenues from programming sales, parking, concessions, interest and other activities, 
including La Balade, the Port d’Escale and the skating rink are recorded during the year in 
which they are earned.  
 
Sponsorships  

The Corporation has signed agreements with a number of sponsors that provide cash, 
products, advertising and other services in exchange for various benefits, including exclusive 
marketing rights and visibility. Sponsorships are recognized in the period to which they relate. 
Non-monetary transactions are recorded at fair market value. 

 
d) Parliamentary appropriations and contributions 
 
The Government of Canada funds the Corporation through parliamentary appropriations or 
contributions. The appropriations and contributions for the purchase of amortizable property, 
plant and equipment is recorded as deferred property, plant and equipment financing and 
amortized on the same basis as the related property, plant and equipment. The appropriations 
and contributions for operating expenditures is recorded in the Statement of Operations in the 
year the appropriations are approved. 
 
e) Retirement savings plan  
 
The Corporation has set up a group retirement savings plan that provides for the creation of a 
single trust with a corporation in the private sector to administer the contributions it receives 
to provide retirement income for employees through individually registered retirement savings 
plans. The Corporation acts solely as an agent and assumes no financial responsibility or 
obligation regarding this plan.  
 
f) Measurement uncertainty  
 
The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures for the reporting period. Estimates 
relating to bad debts, claims from suppliers, accrued liabilities and the useful life of property, 
plant and equipment are the most significant items requiring estimates to be made. Actual 
figures may differ substantially from these estimates. 
 
g) Future accounting change  
 
The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) issued the following accounting 
standard in January 2005. The standard will take effect in 2007-2008: 
 
Section 1530:  Comprehensive income – This standard requires that all changes in equity or net 
assets from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources be 
recognized in other comprehensive income. The Corporation may be required to present a 
new Statement of Comprehensive Income to recognize these amounts until they are realized. 
The Corporation is analyzing the impact of this new standard on its financial reporting.  
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OLD PORT OF MONTRÉAL CORPORATION INC. 
 

3. Property, plant and equipment  
           
                  2007    

 
 
           
                   2006   

 Cost Accumulated 
amortization 

Book value  

 (in thousands of dollars) 

Leasehold improvements    9,883   1,296   8,587 

Buildings        147        24      123 

Computer equipment    2,006   1,440      566 

Exhibitions    8,699   8,393      306 

Software    1,428   1,039      389 

Machinery, tooling and equipment   8,401   4,644   3,757 

Automotive equipment    1,040      935      105 

Office furniture and equipment     2,111   1,397      714 

Work-in-progress     1,781 -    1,781 

 35,496 19,168 16,328 

 

Property, plant and equipment represent acquisitions made by the Old Port of Montreal 
Corporation Inc. since it was incorporated. A significant portion of the property, plant and 
equipment used by the Corporation, representing wharves, urban equipment, warehouses, 
buildings, land and bicycle paths, is recorded in the financial statements of Public Works and 
Government Services Canada because the Corporation does not own these property, plant and 
equipment.  
 

4. Deferred contributions  
 

Deferred contributions represent the unrecognized portion of externally restricted 
contributions to be used to renew the exhibitions at the Montréal Science Centre (MSC) or for 
other activities specific to the MSC. Deferred contributions include amounts received totalling 
$1,289,000 ($505,000 in 2006) that were not used as at March 31. The consideration for this 
amount is presented under restricted cash on the balance sheet. 

 Cost Accumulated 
amortization  

Book value  

 (in thousands of dollars) 

Leasehold improvements  10,529   1,773 8,756 

Buildings       147        29    118 

Computer equipment    2,349   1,734    615 

Exhibitions    8,372   8,284       88 

Software    1,570    1,259     311  

Machinery, tooling and equipment   8,469    5,391           3,078 

Automotive equipment    1,040      979       61 

Office furniture and equipment    2,375   1,652     723 

Work-in-progress    2,496 -  2,496 

 37,347 21,101 16,246 
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OLD PORT OF MONTRÉAL CORPORATION INC. 
 
 
The changes in deferred contributions can be explained as follows: 
  
 

 2007 2006 

 (in thousands of dollars) 

Balance, beginning of year  2,490 1,399 

Plus:    

Donations from the MSC Foundation to renew exhibitions 
and for MSC activities (Note 11)  1,626 1,400 

Sponsorships and donations  390 219 

 2,016 1,619 

Less:    

Sponsorships and donations recognized as revenue  209 269 

Amortization of contributions restricted for the purchase 
of amortizable property, plant and equipment  242 259 

 451 528 

Balance, end of year  4,055 2,490 

   

Current portion  717 262 

Long term portion  3,338 2,228 

 4,055 2,490 

 

 
5 Deferred property, plant and equipment financing 
 
Deferred property, plant and equipment financing represents the unamortized portion of the 
parliamentary appropriations and contributions for the purchase of property, plant and 
equipment.  
 
The changes in the deferred property, plant and equipment financing balance are as follows: 
 
 

       2007 2006 

   (in thousands of dollars) 

Balance, beginning of year       13,548       13,076 

Parliamentary appropriations and contributions received 
during the year for property, plant and equipment 
acquisitions and improvements     1,558       2,513 

Amortization for the year       (2,189)       (2,041) 

Balance, end of year      12,917       13,548 

 
 

6. Capital stock  
 

The Corporation is authorized to issue a single share, to be held in trust for Her Majesty in 
Right of Canada. The share may not be transferred without the consent of the Governor 
General in Council. The authorized share has been issued in consideration of services 
rendered.  
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OLD PORT OF MONTRÉAL CORPORATION INC. 
 

7. Operations – Quays 

 

        2007 2006   

         (in thousands of dollars)  

QUAYS       

Revenues        

 Parking  1,876  1,983   

 Sponsorships and donations  1,293  1,235   

 Events/concessions 1,132  1,117   

 Programming 789  912   

 Other    257  136   

  Total revenues  5,347  5,383    

       

Expenditures        

 Parking  800 717   

 Sponsorship and donation costs  306  218   

 Events /concessions 954  783   

 Programming  1,262  1,206   

 Maintenance, repairs, prevention 4,217  3,870   

 Communications 1,353  1,069   

 Utilities  520  541   

 Other    197  88   

  Total expenditures  9,609  8,492    
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OLD PORT OF MONTRÉAL CORPORATION INC. 
 
8. Operations – Montréal Science Centre  - MSC 

        2007 2006   

         (in thousands of dollars)  

MONTRÉAL SCIENCE CENTRE (MSC)     

Revenues        

 Programming  5,090 3,735  

 Parking  1,746 1,657  

 Concessions/corporate rentals  1,038 852  

 Sponsorships and donations  308 379  

 
Amortization of deferred contributions– 
Montréal Science Centre (Note 4) 242 259  

  Total revenues  8,424 6,882   

       

Expenditures        

 Programming  6,806 6,622  

 Parking  174 175  

 Concessions/corporate rentals  225 207  

 Sponsorship and donation costs 97 69  

 Communications 1,058 1,384  

 Utilities  1,031 1,072  

 Maintenance, repairs, prevention 1,302 1,113  

 Other  216 214  

  Total expenditures  10,909 10,856   

 
9. Operations – Corporate Services  

        2007 2006   

         (in thousands of dollars)  

CORPORATE SERVICES       

       

Revenues        

 Interest and other   218    232   

Expenditures        

 
Office of the President and 
finance    1,780   1,926   

 Human resources    1,591   1,472   

 Procurement    1,169   1,060   

 Information technology   707  699   

 Marketing  630  686   

 Maintenance, repairs and prevention 293  272   

 Communications  222  263   

 Site management   410  159   

 Utilities   68  71   

  Total expenditures   6,870  6,608    
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OLD PORT OF MONTRÉAL CORPORATION INC. 
 

10. Summary of operating expenditures by major category  

  2007 2006 

           (in thousands of dollars) 

Salaries and fringe benefits  13,720 13,270 

Advertising  2,872 2,973 

Maintenance  2,872 2,375 

Amortization 2,695 2,567 

Taxes, permits, rents and utilities 2,167 2,142 

Movie rental   912 750 

Professional fees  894 1,079 

Office expenses  690 425 

Exhibitions  385 417 

Animation contract  364 277 

Insurance  253 268 

Travel and entertainment expenses  247 246 

Telecommunications 239 271 

Software maintenance  149 122 

Other  1,624 1,341 

  30,083 28,523 

 
 
 

 
 

11. Montréal Science Centre Foundation  
 

The Montréal Science Centre Foundation is a non-profit organization founded on March 27, 
2000. It was incorporated as a trust under a notarial deed and is a non-profit organization 
registered under the Income Tax Act. The audited financial statements of the Montréal 
Science Centre Foundation are not consolidated in these financial statements.  
 

The purpose of the Foundation is to promote better knowledge and understanding of science 
and technologies. It must also manage the funds and fund-raising activities for the sole benefit 
of the Montréal Science Centre. 
 

According to the trust arrangement, the Foundation must remit to the Old Port of Montreal 
Corporation Inc. no later than 90 days after its year end, its disbursement quota as per the 
Income Tax Act, in particular a minimum of 80% of the donations received and the revenues 
generated by the accumulated capitalized funds.  
 
Funds remitted to the Corporation must be used for activities of the Montréal Science Centre. 

 
The Foundation remitted the amount of $1,626,000 ($1,400,000 in 2006) to the Corporation 
for the year ending March 31, 2007, including $1,547,000 ($1,320,000 in 2006) to finance the 
renewal of the MSC’s permanent exhibitions in 2007 and $79,000 for the MSC’s activities 
($80,000 in 2006). 
 
The Foundation’s condensed financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31 are 
as follows: 
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OLD PORT OF MONTRÉAL CORPORATION INC. 

 
 

Montréal Science Centre Foundation  
 
 

Financial Position  2006 2005 

      (in thousands of dollars) 

Total assets  1,344 1,425 

Total liabilities  1,344 1,379 

Total net assets           - 46 

Operating results    

Revenues  1,726 1,454 

Expenses  1,772 1,500 

Net results  (46) (46) 

Cash flows  
  

Cash from operating activities ( decrease ) (704) 323 

Cash from financing and investing activities ( decrease ) 450 (725) 

Decrease in cash (254) (402) 

 
 

12. Fair value of financial instruments 
 

The transactions related to cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts 
payable are carried out in the normal course of business. The carrying amount of each of 
these items approximates their fair value because of their short-term maturity. As there is no 
concentration of accounts receivable, the credit risk is low.  
  

13. Non-monetary transactions 
 
The Corporation has granted exclusive rights to certain sponsors for the sale of their products 
in exchange primarily for advertising. These non-monetary transactions with unrelated parties 
were recorded equally in revenues and expenditures. They were estimated to $574,000 in 
2007 ($546,000 in 2006), which represents the fair value of the assets and services received. 

 
14. Related party transactions  
 
The Corporation is related in terms of common ownership to all Government of Canada 
departments, agencies and Crown corporations. The Corporation enters into transactions with 
these entities in the normal course of business. These transactions were recorded at the 
exchange amount, i.e. the value of the consideration paid or received, which was established 
and accepted by the related parties.  
 
Aside from the transactions already mentioned in the financial statements, the Corporation 
conducted the following transactions with related entities: 
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a) Landscaping work on the site  

 
Public Works and Government Services Canada (PWGSC) manages contracts based on the cost-
plus method. For the fiscal year ending March 31, 2007, the cost of these contracts totalled 
$13,000 ($47,000 in 2006) and is included under the category of work in progress and 
leasehold improvements. 

 
The Corporation has carried out work on the site of the Old Port for which it invoiced the 
Canada Lands Company Limited an amount of $73,000 ($300,000 in 2006). 
 
PWGSC owns the principal assets located on the Old Port of Montréal site. Under an 
agreement signed on June 27, 2006, PWGSC and the Old Port of Montréal Corporation have 
determined specific work to be carried out on all of the assets to address occupational health 
and safety issues. The Corporation has managed a large portion of the work performed on 
behalf of PWGSC, using the cost-plus method. The balance invoiced to PWGSC in connection 
with this work totals $1,108,000 ($611,000 in 2006). A balance receivable of $476,000 
($109,000 in 2006) has been included in accounts receivable.  
 
b)  Rental of space  

 
The Corporation signed an agreement with the Montreal Port Authority, beginning on January 
1, 2007 and ending on December 31, 2011, covering the rental of space for parking facilities 
and administrative offices. Rental costs under this agreement amounted to $639,000 for the 
fiscal year ($603,000 in 2006) and are included in Quays expenditures under Maintenance, 
repairs, prevention and parking. 
 
c) Joint operations  
 
The Corporation and federal and provincial museums are party to agreements for the sharing 
of exhibition production costs in the normal course of operations. The Corporation had a 
commitment under these agreements for $965,000 ($765,000 in 2006) for the year ended 
March 31, 2007. In this respect, an amount of $821,000 ($722,130 in 2006) is included in work 
in process and exhibitions under property, plant and equipment. The balance payable totals 
$231,000 as at March 31, 2007 ($147,000 in 2006). 

 

15. Contingencies  
 
In the normal course of its activities, the Corporation is either a claimant or a defendant in a 
number of claims or lawsuits. Various claims have been filed or lawsuits instituted against the 
Corporation. In management’s opinion, the outstanding issues as at March 31, 2007 are of a 
current nature. Management is of the opinion that the resolution of these contingencies 
should not have a major unfavourable impact on the Corporation’s financial situation. 
 

16. Commitments  
 
a ) Commitments relating to operating expenditures and acquisitions of property, 

plant and equipment  
 
As at March 31, 2007, the Corporation’s total contractual obligations amounted to $2,979,000 
($4,737,000 in 2006), including $503,000 ($669,000 in 2006) for maintenance services, 
advertising contracts and professional services, and $2,476,000 ($3,652,000 in 2006) for the 
acquisition of property, plant and equipment. Payments under these contracts must be made 
within the next five years.  
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b) Operating leases  

 
Operating leases mainly pertain to the rental of space to operate parking facilities and 
administrative offices and to the rental of property. Future minimum lease payments to be 
made annually under these operating leases are as follows as at March 31, 2007:  
 
(in thousands of dollars)  
 

 

2007-2008:      571   

2008-2009:      541   

2009-2010:      499   

2010-2011:      507   

2011-2012:       387   

Total future minimum  

lease payments              $2,505   

 

 

17. Asset retirement obligations  
 

The Corporation operates certain structures under an operating lease. The agreement signed 
by the parties includes a clause which stipulates that upon expiry of the lease the owner will 
retake control of these structures without providing any compensation for any additions or 
modifications made by the Corporation to the initial structures, provided that the owner 
considers them to be in satisfactory condition. According to the Corporation, the changes 
made to the structures since it has had responsibility for management thereof satisfy the 
lessor’s requirements. Accordingly, no liability relating to the retirement of these assets has 
been recognized in the financial statements.  
 

18. Reconciliation of net results from operations to Government 
funding 

 

The Corporation receives its funding from the Government of Canada based on cash flow 
requirements. The Treasury Board Secretariat allotted a parliamentary appropriation in the 
amount of $17,100,000 for the 2006-2007 fiscal year ($16,325,000 in 2006). Of this amount, 
$1,900,000 was frozen for payments in lieu of taxes (PILT). PILT pertains to real property used 
by the Old Port of Montréal Corporation but owned by Public Works and Government Services 
Canada (PWGSC). As the owner of the real property in question, PWGSC assumes and records 
the PILT expense in its books. The Government of Canada paid the appropriation frozen 
directly to PWGSC. 
 
Items recognized in the Statement of operations and retained earnings in one year may be 
funded by the Government of Canada in different years. Accordingly, the Corporation has 
different net results of operations for the year on a government funding basis than on a 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles basis. These differences are outlined 
below: 
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 2007  2006   

              (in thousands of dollars)  

Excess of operating expenditures over revenues 16,094  16,026  

Items not affecting government funding:     

 Amortization of deferred contributions  242  259  

 Amortization of property, plant and equipment  (2,695)  (2,567)  

     

Parliamentary appropriations and contributions required 
to fund operations 13,641  13,718 

 

Amount used to acquire property, plant and equipment  1,558  2,513  

     

Total parliamentary appropriation and contribution used  15,199  16,231  

 

Funding available: 

Annual approved funding  

 

 

17,100 

 

 

 

16,325 

 

Portion of funding frozen for payments in lieu of taxes 
(PILT) 

 

(1,900) 
 -  

Funding available          15,200  16,325  

 

Excess government funding repayable  

 

1 
 

 

94 
 

 

 

19. Comparative figures  
 
Certain 2006 figures were restated to conform to the presentation of the current year. 
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PARTNERS 
 
Partners of the Old Port of Montréal Corporation 

 
 
Major partners of the Quays of the Old Port of Montréal 
 

   
 
Other partners  
 
Astral Média Affichage 
Zoom Média 
Canadian Wildlife Federation 
 
Partners for 2006-2007 winter programming: 
 
Presenter for the Winter Bar : LCC Vins (Amarula) SKYY & Navan 
Media partners: Astral Media Radio (Énergie & RockDentente), VOIR & HOUR 
 
Partner of the Montréal Science Centre 
 

 
 
Presenting sponsors of the Montréal Science Centre 
 

   
 
Sponsors of the Montréal Science Centre 
 

    
 

  
 
Presenting sponsor of the Montréal Science Centre’s IMAX®TELUS Theatre  
 

 

 
Presenting sponsor for regular programming at the Montréal Science Centre’s 
IMAX®TELUS Theatre  
 

 
 
Promotional sponsor of the Montréal Science Centre 
 
La Cordée 

Solotech 

JD International 

National Theatre School of Canada 

 
Donateurs du Centre des sciences de Montréal 
 
Trottier Family Foundation 

Imperial Oil Foundation 

Pratt & Whitney Canada 

Royal Bank of Canada 

Royal Bank of Canada 
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